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Chairman’s Statement
EERBREFE

In 2024, although the global economy’s recovery path was still full
of challenges, technological innovations and the flourishing digital
economy presented new opportunities to enterprises. In such a
macroeconomic environment with both opportunities and challenges,
Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) were able to proactively embrace changes and adapt to new
situations. Drawing on keen market acumen, courage to take decisive
actions and tenacious fighting spirit, the Group achieved impressive

business growth in 2024.

On the biochemical business front, with farming operations scaling
up and animal health business going for high-quality development,
scientific innovations and technical services have become crucial
growth drivers of the industry. Continuing with its strategic
transformation, the Group pushed forward to diversify its animal
health product business. In order to ensure relevant businesses
have strong commercial potential in future development, we have
been stepping up research and development investments, focusing
on research and applications of emerging technologies, as well
as employing artificial intelligence and related tools to drive key
technology upgrades. At the same time, the Group actively explored
market channels and strengthened in-depth cooperation with leading
companies in the industry, expanding its market share as a result. In
addition, the Group actively took part in trade exhibitions at home
and abroad to showcase its innovative products and technological
advantages. These activities have helped to enhance our brand

influence in the market place.

During the year, the Group, as always, actively honoured its
social responsibility by participating in various social welfare and
charitable events, such as sponsoring medical supplies and promoting
greening. In terms of human resources, we continued to bring in
talent of high calibre and wholeheartedly pressed on with research
and development, production, as well as sales undertakings. Also,
by further improving our manpower structure and staff quality, a
solid foundation has been laid for the Group to achieve sustainable
development via enhancement of efficiency and strengthening of

overall competitiveness.
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As the large-size excavator market was affected by the country’s
slowing down in infrastructure investment and the mining sector’s
holding back in spending, the performance of our Caterpillar
dealership business was less than satisfactory. On the other hand,
while facing a complex market environment, our automotive parts
business achieved stable overall performance in 2024. This result was
achieved by stabilizing its traditional carburetor business and actively

pursuing the new energy vehicle subcomponent business.

Looking forward, we will continue to uphold our “Three Benefits
Principle” — benefiting the countries in which we operate, benefiting
the people whose community we share and benefiting the enterprises
for which we are responsible. We would abide by laws and regulations;
we would step up efforts in technological innovation, market
expansion and talent grooming; and we would work hard to meet the
requirements of high-quality development. These efforts would ensure

we are ready to realise our business aspirations for 2025.
Last but not least, my heartfelt thanks go to all employees for their

hard work and contribution in the past year and also to shareholders

for their trust and support.

Soopakij Chearavanont
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 February 2025
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Financial Highlights
B E

(Unit: US$’000) (W7 : T o) 2024 2023
Key Statement of Comprehensive Income Items FHEEmMKEREH
Revenue WA 307,748 173,979
Gross Profit EEV| 48,934 30,185
Profit Attributable to Shareholders of the Company K A 5] B AN s A 11,168 2,553
Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (US cents)! B e FL AR J RS A (Al ) 4.41 1.01
Key Statement of Financial Position Items FEMHERIELEE
Property, Plant & Equipment LE B S & ] 99,639 95,951
Total Assets WA 422,214 377,374
Total Bank Borrowings A ERAT A 3K 69,169 78,168
Issued Capital CEEAT AR 25,333 25,333
Shareholders’ Equity JBE SR JRE A BE 2% 234,773 228,430
Total Equity BE 25 40 %0 260,512 252,018
Revenue US$’000 Gross Profit US$’000
WA ZETFT ERN ExTT 48,034
350,000 - ’
307,748 50,000
300,000
40,000
250,000 -
30,185
200,000 173979 30,000
150,000 4 20,000 -
100,000 -
50,000 1 10,000 7
0 0
2023 2024 2023 2024
Profit US$’000 Basic and US cents
Attributable ETF T Diluted 21
to Shareholders 12,000 11,168 Earnings 5 -
of the Company Per Share 4.41
AATFRE 10,000 BREARR 4
FE1R &R 8,000 - b Ml .
6,000 A
2 |
4,000 - 2,553 1.01
N N |
0 0
2023 2024 2023 2024
“Remarks il

! Based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares and

convertible preference shares in issue during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

GROUP RESULTS

The Group has two lines of business: biochemical business and
industrial business. The biochemical business focuses on animal
health products and chlortetracycline (“CTC”), and is carried on
by Group subsidiaries. This business segment accounts for all of the
Group’s consolidated revenue. The industrial business comprises the
Group’s interests in its joint venture ECI Metro Investment Co.,
Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries, “ECI Metro”) and its associate
Zhanjiang Deni Vehicle Parts Co., Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries,
“Zhanjiang Deni”). The results of the Group’s industrial business are
incorporated in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

as share of profits and losses of joint venture and associate.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue increased
76.9% to US$307.7 million (2023: US$174.0 million). As mentioned
above, the Group’s revenue came from its consolidated biochemical
business. The significant increase in revenue reflected the successful
implementation of a crucial strategy to increase sales to key customers.
Opverall gross profit margin reduced from 17.3% in 2023 to 15.9% in
2024 mainly due to an increase in animal health product business

which has a lower profit margin.

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company was US$11.2
million in 2024, an increase of over 3 times as compared to US$2.6
million in 2023. The increase in profit was again primarily due to
stronger performance of the Group’s biochemical business. However,
share of profits of the Group’s industrial business declined due to

intense competition.

Basic and diluted earnings per share were both 4.4 US cents (2023:
1.0 US cents). The Board of Directors of the Company resolved not to
declare a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENMR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Biochemical

We generate our revenue primarily from the manufacture and/or sale
of animal health products and CTC products. Our animal health
products are mainly preventive drugs for livestock diseases. CTC
products, on the other hand, are antibiotics, used to prevent or cure
animal diseases. In the past few years, we have been strategically
broadening our product portfolio to cover related veterinary products.
Of these new offerings, some we manufacture and sale, and some
we source and trade. The Group’s major customers include farms,

pharmaceutical companies, trading companies and feed mills.

In 2024, the Group’s revenue from the biochemical business increased
76.9% to US$307.7 million (2023: US$174.0 million). Our sales
mix changed in-line with our strategic business direction. Revenue
contribution from animal health products increased from 59% in
2023 to 72% in 2024, while revenue contribution from CTC products
decreased from 41% in 2023 to 28% in 2024.

Our animal health products consist of a wide variety of veterinary
products. When compared to our CTC products, animal health
product, on average, have a lower profit margin. As a result, overall
gross profit margin reduced from 17.3% in 2023 to 15.9% in 2024.
Nevertheless, due to the substantial increase in business, contribution

from our biochemical business grew significantly in 2024.
Industrial

The Group’s industrial business is conducted through ECI Metro and
Zhanjiang Deni.

ECI Metro is principally engaged in the sale, leasing and servicing
of Caterpillar machinery equipment in western China. According
to the China Construction Machinery Association, excavator sales,
in unit terms, across the entire market recorded a 11.7% increase
in 2024 compared to that in 2023. Although our excavator sales,
in unit terms, recorded a 5.3% increase in 2024 compared to that
in 2023, our revenue from sales of excavators decreased due to a
drop in sales of large-sized excavators and an increase in sales of
small-and-medium-sized excavators. As a result, for the year ended
31 December 2024, our share of profit of joint venture reduced from
US$4.8 million in 2023 to US$0.5 million in 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Industrial (continued)

Zhanjiang Deni is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
automotive parts, which are mainly sold to automobile and motorcycle
manufacturers. According to the China Association of Automobile
Manufacturers, China automobile sales in 2024 increased by 4.5%
when compared to that in 2023; and according to China Chamber of
Commerce for Motorcycle, China motorcycle sales in 2024 was 2.8%
higher than that in 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2024, our
share of profit of associate remained stable at US$2.2 million (2023:
US$2.1 million).

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, while the macro environment remains complex,
increase in animal disease prevention awareness is expected to drive
our biochemical business. Overall, we remain cautiously optimistic for
our performance in 2025.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total assets of US$422.2
million, an increase of 11.9% as compared to US$377.4 million as at
31 December 2023.

Net debt (31 December 2024: US$36.8 million, 31 December 2023:
US$40.6 million) to equity ratio (defined as total bank borrowings
minus cash divided by total equity) was 0.14 as compared to 0.16 as at
31 December 2023.

All the borrowings of the Group are denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s fixed interest rate bank
borrowings amounted to US$34.3 million (31 December 2023:
US$41.1 million).

All domestic sales in mainland China are transacted in RMB and
export sales are transacted in foreign currencies. The Group monitors
exchange rate movements and determines appropriate hedging
activities when necessary.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group finances its working capital requirements through a
combination of funds generated from operations and borrowings. The
Group had cash and cash equivalents of US$32.4 million as at 31
December 2024, a decrease of US$5.2 million compared to US$37.6
million as at 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENMR DN

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, out of the total borrowings of US$69.2
million (31 December 2023: US$78.2 million) obtained by the Group,
US$18.8 million (31 December 2023: US$21.7 million) was secured,
which accounted for 27.1% (31 December 2023: 27.7%) of the total
borrowings. Certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and
land lease prepayments with an aggregate net book value of US$24.0
million (31 December 2023: US$33.8 million) were pledged as

security.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant

contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there were no other
significant investments held nor material acquisitions or disposals

during the year.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed around 900 employees
in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, experience and prevailing market
conditions while performance bonuses are granted on a discretionary
basis. Other employee benefits include, for example, medical

insurance and training.
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Corporate Governance Report

Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited (the “Company”
and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to
maintaining strict corporate governance standards. The principles of
these standards are to uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
accountability and integrity in all aspects of business and to ensure
that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and

regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions prescribed in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix CI to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) throughout the year 2024.

THE BOARD

(a) Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”) comprises ten members, including
four executive directors, two non-executive directors and four

independent non-executive directors.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) and the relationships among the Directors are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors”

in this annual report.

(b) Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont is the Chairman of the Company.
Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul and Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi are
the Chief Executive Officers of the biochemical division and
the industrial division, respectively. The roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officers are distinct and separate
with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board while
the Chief Executive Officers are responsible for managing the

Group’s business.
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Corporate Governance Report
LEERRE

THE BOARD (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Roles and Responsibilities

The Board, directly and through its committees, leads
and provides direction for the management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation by
the management, reviews the operational and financial
performance, provides oversight to ensure that a sound system
of risk management and internal control is in place and

performs corporate governance functions.

The non-executive Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) provide advisory as well as checks
and balances for effective and constructive contribution to
the Board to safeguard interests of the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and the Company as a whole.

The management is responsible for execution of business

strategies and dealing with day-to-day operations.
Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all

independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, a newly appointed director on 23
February 2024, obtained the legal advice under Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 2 February 2024 and confirmed she

understood her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Code of Conduct for Securities
Transactions, which is based on the required standard set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules — Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as the
code of conduct for dealings in the Company’s securities by
its directors. All Directors responded to a specific enquiry
by the Company and confirmed that they complied with the
required standard set out in the Code of Conduct for Securities

Transactions during 2024.
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THE BOARD (continued)

)

(9)

Directors’ Training

During 2024, each of the Directors, being Mr. Soopakij
Chearavanont, Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul, Mr. Thanakorn
Seriburi, Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont, Mr. Chawalit Na
Muangtoun, Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe, Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom,
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung and
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, participated in continuous professional
development through participation in trainings organised by
the Company and other professional organisations and review

of regulatory update provided by the Company.

General Meeting, Board Meetings and Board
Committee Meetings

During 2024, the Company held one annual general meeting,
four Board meetings, three Audit Committee meetings,
three Remuneration Committee meetings, one Nomination
Committee meeting and two Corporate Governance

Committee meetings.

The Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and
attention to perform their duties and responsibilities.
According to the bye-laws of the Company, Directors can
attend board meetings in person or by means of telephone,

electronic or other communication facilities.
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LEERRE

THE BOARD (continued)

(9)

General Meeting, Board Meetings and Board
Committee Meetings (continued)

The attendance of each Director at the meetings held in 2024

is set out in the following table:

EE

(9)

B

g (IIE)

BRRAE EFZSRESTETHNEESS
& (|

TP G % At
HE %

No. of meetings attended/held

YA VA-E LTt

Annual Corporate

General Audit  Remuneration Nomination Governance

Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee Committee

BARERE fEd | (334 HMERE RAZHE  DEERZAE

Chairman and Non-executive Director FFRAFAGEF
M. Soopakij Chearavanont!! EEIN %A 11 44 - - Il -
Executive Directors HfiE#
Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul ™ BHERE0 111 44 - - - -
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi RS 1 44 - 3 - -
Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont RNk 11 44 - - - N
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun BRI il 4 - - - i
Non-executive Director FhfES
M. Yoichi [kezoe -4 N 4t - - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors Vg it
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom” Surasak Rounroengrom 2 11 44 33 11 11 -
M. Cheng Yuk Wo' R 11 4 3B 3B 1 -
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung” A 1 44 3B 11 - N
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay® 3 gl 1 3B - N - -
Notes: TA

(1)

(3)

(4)

(6)

Ceased to be the Chairman of the Nomination Committee on

23 February 2024.

Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on 23

February 2024.

Appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee
on 23 February 2024.

Ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee on 23
February 2024.

Ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee on 23
February 2024.

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 23 February 2024.
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THE BOARD (continued)

(h)

Accountability and Audit

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance in

the annual and interim reports.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements, which should give a true and fair
view of the financial position, the financial performance and
cash flows of the Group in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The statement
of the auditor of the Company about the Director’s
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in

this annual report.

The Board considers that, in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are adopted consistently and made judgements
and estimates that are reasonable, prudent and in accordance

with the applicable accounting standards.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

X E B ER

A H

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Exg (&)

(h)

BBk F%

ERFARAFREPHHE T EAAFZ
AR BUE -1 ~ 5 I S B AR R RE Al o

o A B R AT B R R
342 1l e B 8 o 4 ) B 7 9 2 ] Ak 5 )
V1 5 5 SR LTI v 4 R A 4 G B
ARV ~ B 5 R B R B & IR AR DL« AR A
A B S A 4 S 5 R EUR MR P
AT 22 U FO A 4 3t 198 S A W i e o | —
i o

ERG R AR R H
HiLBR A9 30 B A BOR > I ARLRE s
L) A0 ) B e 7 R ) B B A

R AR ) A B AR > B RT
F o PR B AE > AP A 0 B AT T E R R
WY W] Z e P R L o nT B A A ) R A AR
B e R KRR -

RN FF R



CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

Corporate
LEERRE

E X &© ¥ H

Governance Report

THE BOARD (continued)

(i) Divide

nd Policy

The Dividend Policy adopted by the Company is set out below:

The Dividend Policy sets out the approach of the

Company on the declaration and payment of dividends

to the Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for considering and, if
appropriate, declaring any interim dividend or
recommending any final dividend to the Shareholders
for approval every year. Any approved dividends must

not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

The declaration or recommendation of any dividend
will take into consideration the Company’s results of
operations and financial conditions, business strategy
and future development and any other factors that
the Board may deem relevant. No dividend shall be
declared or paid except out of the Company’s profits
and reserves lawfully available for distribution. The
payment of dividend is also subject to applicable laws
and regulations, including any applicable restrictions

under the Company’s bye-laws.

Future declarations or recommendations of dividends
may or may not reflect the Company’s historical
declarations or recommendations of dividends and
will be at the absolute discretion of the Board. In
general, whilst the Company is in a growth stage,
the Board does not expect, in the absence of special

circumstances, to declare or recommend any dividend.

This Dividend Policy is subject to review by the Board
and may be amended by the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)

1)

Corporate Culture and Strategy

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and/
or sale of animal health products and chlortetracycline.
Additionally, the Group is also involved, through its joint
venture and associated company, in the trading of machinery
and the manufacture and sale of automotive parts. We conduct

our business by upholding the Group’s six core values:

1. Three Benefits Principle: The Group has always operated
our business by adhering to the ‘Three-Benefits Principle’.
This states that our business should first benefit the
countries where we operate; then the communities we
engage with and lastly the company and employees. Since
the founding days, this principle has guided our growth
and ensured that our operations benefit the society as a

whole.

2. Speed with Quality: Modern businesses must be
fast-moving, without compromising quality. They must
be able to adapt to new circumstances, adopt the latest
technologies, respond to both consumers’ changing
tastes and preferences and evolving regulations.
As a result, the Group places great importance on
the efficiency and effectiveness of our business and

employees.

3. Simplification: The Group is committed to applying
technology and innovation that simplifies its systems
and operations while improving efficiency and
effectiveness across the entire Group. Simplification is
one of the key practices that has enhanced the Group’s

success.

4. Accept Changes: Global businesses face daily changing
circumstances — from political, socio-economic
and environmental issues to consumers’ needs and
technological development. Our key strategy is to
embrace changes. We encourage our employees to stay
informed of new opportunities so that we could deliver
more to our customers. This also helps us to manage the

evolving circumstances across all of our markets.
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THE BOARD (continued)

1)

Corporate Culture and Strategy (continued)

5. Innovation: Innovation drives every aspect of our
business from processes to products. Businesses must
constantly innovate to keep pace with a rapidly
changing world. We actively encourage our employees
to be innovative. Our goal is to foster innovation across
our business to deliver the best products and services to

our customers.

6. Integrity: Since the very first day of the Group, we have
operated our business with integrity and transparency
in every transaction — big or small. We firmly believe
that any business focusing solely on self-enrichment
and disregarding integrity will ultimately lose trust of

its stakeholders and ability to operate in the long run.

We operate our business ethically, manage our organisation
with transparency and accountability and aim to create value
for all stakeholder groups. The Group not only aims to achieve
business growth but also to operate as a “good corporate
citizen” by conducting business responsibly and participating
in economic, social and environmental development to create
benefits for society. This includes benefits for the country of
investment and citizens of that country, leading to sustainable
mutual growth of the Group and society. We believe that
conducting business in line with corporate governance
principles is the key foundation for ethical business practices,
leading to systematic and efficient management, as well
as enabling the Group to adapt to change and increase its
competitiveness. This results in good long-term performance
while creating value to society, the environment and other
stakeholders, culminating in the business’ sustainable growth.
We, therefore, established the Anti-corruption Policy and
the Whistleblowing Policy to guide employees on working in
accordance with corporate governance principles and ethical

standards.

Taking into account the corporate culture in a range of
contexts, the Board considers that the culture and the purpose,

value and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
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BOARD DELEGATION

The Board has delegated authority to the following four committees
which operate under defined terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.

The attendance of each committee member at the committee

meetings held in 2024 is set out in this annual report.
(i) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman),
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom and Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung.

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board with the
primary responsibility to provide independent oversight of the
Group’s financial reporting, risk management and internal
control systems. The Audit Committee is provided with
sufficient resources, including support from the Internal Audit
Department, external auditor and management, to perform
its duties in reviewing the Group’s financial results, material

financial, operational and compliance controls.
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Corporate Governance Report
LEERRE

BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

U]

Audit Committee (continued) (i)

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year.
The following is a summary of the work done by the Audit
Committee in 2024:

o reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2023 and recommended the Board to
approve the 2023 annual results and the related
financial information set out in the results

announcement and the annual report;

o reviewed the report from the external auditor to the

Audit Committee for the year ended 31 December

2023;
° approved the 2024 audit fee;
o reviewed the risk management update of the Group;
o reviewed the internal audit reports of the Group;
o reviewed the interim results for the six months ended

30 June 2024 and recommended the Board to approve
the 2024 interim results and the related financial
information set out in the results announcement and

the interim report;

° reviewed the report from the external auditor to the
Audit Committee for the six months ended 30 June
2024,

. reviewed the audit and non-audit services undertaken

by the external auditor;

° reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and

internal control systems; and

o approved 2024 audit plan.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

U]

Audit Committee (continued)

Subsequent to the 2024 year end, the Audit Committee
reviewed the preliminary results for the year ended 31
December 2024 and recommended the Board to approve the
publication of the positive profit alert announcement and
reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2024 and recommended the Board to approve the 2024 annual
results and the related financial information set out in the

results announcement and this annual report.

The Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and
the approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor. To ensure the external auditor’s
independence, the Audit Committee reviewed the audit and

non-audit services undertaken by the external auditor in 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
paid by the Group to the external auditor is set out below:

»
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2024
Ry
US$’°000
Category of Services ke 5 28 03 FILFc
Audit services oy 3% 191
Review engagements and agreed-upon procedures R AT BT 60
251
Other services oAt IR % 2
Total ki 253
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LEERRE

BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(ii)

Remuneration Committee

As at 1 January 2024, the Remuneration Committee consisted
of three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng
Yuk Wo (Chairman), Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom and
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung, and an executive Director,
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi. On 23 February 2024, each of
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom and Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung
ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee. Since then and as at the date of
this annual report, the Remuneration Committee consists of
two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk
Wo (Chairman) and Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, and an executive
Director, Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi.

The Remuneration Committee is delegated by the Board
with the primary responsibilities to make recommendations
to the Board on remuneration policy and structure for the
directors as well as to consider and recommend to the Board
the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior

management.

The primary objective of the Remuneration Committee is
to ensure that the Company is able to attract, retain and
motivate high-caliber employees who are critical to the
success of the Company, thereby enhancing the value of the
Company to the Shareholders. The objective of the Company’s
Remuneration Policy (the “Remuneration Policy”) is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business

requirements and industry practices.

During 2024, the Remuneration Committee held three
meetings to consider and recommend to the Board the
remuneration packages of Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, an
independent non-executive Director appointed on 23 February
2024, and Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun, an executive Director,

and the remuneration proposal for 2025.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(i)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Subsequent to the 2024 year end, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed and recommended to the Board the
adoption of the new share option scheme of the Company and
the termination of the existing share option scheme of the
Company adopted on 18 March 2015 upon adoption of such
new scheme. The adoption of the new share option scheme
of the Company and the termination of the existing share
option scheme of the Company will be put forward to the
Shareholders for approval at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of each Director are set out in

note 9 to the financial statements in this annual report.

Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy is established and implemented to
support the strategies and long-term vision of the Group as
well as provide adequate incentive for Directors and employees
to pursue long-term growth and success of the Group. The
remuneration for the Directors and senior management
shall be determined and recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board after giving due consideration of all
relevant factors including individual performance, duty and
responsibility, the Group’s performance, market conditions as
well as the compensation level for comparable positions among
other companies with similar businesses. The Remuneration

Policy shall be reviewed by the Board from time to time.
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LEERRE

BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee

As at 1 January 2024, the Nomination Committee consisted
of a non-executive Director, Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont
(Chairman) and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom and Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo. On 23
February 2024, Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont ceased to be the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Cheng Yuk
Wo ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee,
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom was appointed as the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee and each of Mr. Thirayut
Phityaisarakul and Ms. Cheung Marn Kay was appointed as
a member of the Nomination Committee. Since then and as
at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
consists of two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom (Chairman) and Ms. Cheung Marn
Kay, and an executive Director, Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul.

The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board with
the primary responsibilities to formulate and implement the
Company’s Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
and Board Diversity Policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”),
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
any individual nominated for directorship and assess the

independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The non-executive Directors are appointed for a successive
term of one year. The independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a successive term of three years. All Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation, but may offer themselves
for re-election at annual general meetings in accordance
with the Company’s bye-laws. According to the Company’s
bye-laws, at each annual general meeting of the Company, no
less than one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at

least once every three years.
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Nomination Committee (continued)

During 2024, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.
During this meeting, the Nomination Committee assessed the
profile of Ms. Cheung Marn Kay with reference to the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and recommended
to the Board to approve her appointment as an independent
non-executive Director on 23 February 2024. Furthermore,
the Nomination Committee reviewed the diversity, structure,
size and composition of the Board, the independence of
all independent non-executive Directors and reviewed and
recommended to the Board to propose the re-election of the
retiring Directors to the Shareholders at the annual general

meeting in 2024.

Subsequent to the 2024 year end, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the diversity, structure, size and composition of the
Board, the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors and reviewed and recommended to the Board
to propose the re-election of the retiring Directors to the

Shareholders at the annual general meeting in 2025.

Board Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and inputs are available to the Board. Such
mechanisms will be reviewed annually by the Board. In 2024,
the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the following mechanisms and considered such mechanisms

remained effective and were properly implemented:

1. All our Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent of and not related to each other and any
members of the senior management. Also, Independent
Non-executive Directors forms a majority in our
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee.

2. The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officers are separate to ensure a balance of power and

authority.

3. Independent Non-executive Directors’ independence is

assessed annually.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee (continued)
Board Independence (continued)

4. The Chairman of the Board will meet with the
Independent Non-executive Directors at least annually

without the presence of other Directors.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to Independent Non-executive

Directors.

6. The Board and Board Committees members are
authorised to engage external advisors or consultants to
advise them on such issues as they consider necessary at

the Company’s expenses.
Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy to set out
the approach to achieve diversity in the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse board
to strengthen its effectiveness and governance. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity considerations,
which include but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee,
in carrying out its duties, will also take into account the
Company’s corporate strategy and organisational needs.
Review on the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy will be conducted annually by the Nomination
Committee and the Board.

During 2024, the Board reviewed the diversity, structure, size
and composition of the Board as well as the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy for the year
2024. The Board considered that the Board Diversity Policy

remains effective.
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Nomination Committee (continued) (i) RBEZEEEF(H)
Board Diversity Policy (continued) EFEREZTIEHEE (&)
The Board is committed to achieving gender diversity on HHEGHEORBRIEE - ENEEFGU RS
the Board level by having a non-single gender Board and by AR 2 ) B A 0 A S R Y AT A
providing the Company with a good balance and diversity of Z oAb M5 e AR B - A€ B 3 i B
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of its Mz - EFFREAFWFETZH
business. The Board has set an initial target to appoint at least Z=t—HzZzufEwES — L XHEERENYS
one female Director by 31 December 2024 and has achieved HE > Mt H S 2L L
such target on 23 February 2024 when Ms. Cheung Marn Kay ECHCT=E=HERE AR IERITERER
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director. The EGER - EFFHHEREEDBERBA
Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female LA KN E R B R £ oo
representation in the Board and gender diversity is achieved 1t o B F A H I8 AL B % ROk
in respect of the Board. The Board will continue to review 8 1 A W 2% B L AR o
its composition from time to time taking into consideration
specific needs for the Group’s business.
Details of the diversity, structure, size and composition of the WHG 2ol ~ 200 - N O AL P R R
Board are set out below: FImR -
Board Diversity Profile
HEF LTI
Gender Male Female
T Wk ik
Designation Executive Director Non-executive Director Independent Non-executive Director
Wik gy TSR FHfTHESR WL AT S
Age Group ;
pawonpe 50-59 60-69 =270
Expertise and Experience Management ;:‘;:;l::at:;ge Legal
BEEEARAACER =g s Wi
Number of Directors
10
—— 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee (continued)
Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Board is also committed to maintaining gender diversity
and equality on the workforce level. The Group is principally
engaged in the manufacture and/or sale of animal health
products and chlortetracycline. Due to the nature of the
industry, over 70% of our workforce are male. To encourage
more gender diversity in the workforce level, the Company
plans to increase the existing percentage of female workforce
from 27% to 30% by December 2027.

The total workforce by gender of the Company was disclosed
in the 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)

report.
Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy adopted by the Company is set out

below:

1 Purpose

1.1 The Nomination Committee of the Company
has the primary responsibility of identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates to
become Directors (to fill casual vacancies and as

new Board members).

1.2 The Nomination Policy sets out the approach
with respect to the selection and nomination
of candidates for directorship of the Company
so as to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business for the Board to consider
and, if appropriate, appoint additional Directors
or Directors to fill casual vacancies, as the
case may be, or make recommendations to the
Shareholders for election as Directors at general

meetings.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2 Selection Criteria, Eligibility and Documentary

Requirements

2.1

2.2

The Nomination Committee may select
suitably qualified candidates to nominate to the
Board from such resources as the Nomination
Committee considers appropriate, including
through referrals by members of the Board,
by the management of the Company and
by external professional agencies and other

resources.

The Nomination Committee shall consider the
factors listed below, together with any other
factors as the Nomination Committee may
consider appropriate, in assessing the suitability

of any candidate:

- character, reputation and integrity;

- qualifications, accomplishments and

experience;

- capacity to devote sufficient time to
discharge duties amidst other significant

commitments;

- effect on the diversity of the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background,
professional and industry experience,

skills and expertise knowledge;

- ability to fulfil the independence
requirements under the Listing Rules
(where the proposed candidate is
being considered as candidate for an
Independent Non-executive Director

position); and

- potential contributions to the Board and

any other relevant factors.
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Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2 Selection Criteria, Eligibility and Documentary

Requirements (continued)

2.2

2.3

(continued)

The list of factors stated above is for reference
only and not intended to be exhaustive or
definitive. The Nomination Committee shall
assess all relevant factors with a view to
achieve the Company’s corporate strategy and
organisational needs and has the discretion to

nominate any person as it considers appropriate.

The candidates shall timely provide such
information and documents relating to their
nomination as the Nomination Committee
or the Board may request, including but not
limited to any such information as is required
for disclosure under the Listing Rules and their
written consent to be elected as Directors and to

the public disclosure of their information.

3 Nomination Rules and Procedures

3.1

3.2

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee
shall call a meeting of the Nomination
Committee and in advance of the meeting
invite nomination of candidates from members
of the Board, if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may put forward other candidates
irrespective of whether such candidates have

been nominated by members of the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt
of all necessary information relating to the
candidates, evaluate each of such candidates
at the meeting based on the criteria set out in
Section 2 above to determine whether to make

a nomination to the Board.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

Nomination Rules and Procedures (continued)

33 The number of candidates nominated by the
Nomination Committee may exceed the number
of casual vacancies or vacancies for Director’s
appointment by the Board or at the general

meeting.

3.4 The Board shall have the final decision on
all matters relating to the appointment of
candidates as Directors and its recommendation
of candidates to stand for election at any

general meeting.

3.5 Any proposed candidate is entitled to withdraw
his/her candidature at any time before
the meeting of the Board at which his/her
appointment is to be considered or the general
meeting at which he/she is to stand for election

by serving a notice in writing to the Company.
Confidentiality

Unless required by law or any regulatory authority,
under no circumstances may a member of the
Nomination Committee disclose any information to the
public with regard to any nomination or candidature
whilst such information has not been disclosed by the

Company to the public.
Review

The Nomination Committee will review this
Nomination Policy from time to time, as appropriate,
and discuss any revisions that may be considered
appropriate, including to ensure that it remains
relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects both
current regulatory requirements and good corporate
governance practice, and recommend them to the

Board for approval.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)
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(iv)

Nomination Committee (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)
6 Disclosure of Policy

The Nomination Policy may be disclosed in such
manner as the Board considers appropriate and in
compliance with any applicable regulatory requirements
or guidelines.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of an
independent non-executive Director, Mr. Edward Ko Ming
Tung (Chairman) and two executive Directors, Mr. Nopadol
Chiaravanont and Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun.

The Corporate Governance Committee is delegated by
the Board with the primary responsibilities to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the Company’s compliance with the Code of Conduct for
Securities Transactions and its compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code.

During 2024, the Corporate Governance Committee held two
meetings to review, among others, the Company’s compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code for the year ended
31 December 2023 and for the six months ended 30 June
2024, respectively, and the disclosure in the 2023 Corporate
Governance Report. The Corporate Governance Committee
also reviewed the major ESG initiatives taken in the year 2023
and in the six months ended 30 June 2024, the progress on the
ESG targets and the 2023 ESG report.

Subsequent to the 2024 year end, the Corporate Governance
Committee reviewed, among others, the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and the disclosure in the 2024
Corporate Governance Report. Furthermore, the Corporate
Governance Committee reviewed the new Corporate
Governance Code and revised Listing Rules which will
come into effect on 1 July 2025. The Corporate Governance
Committee also reviewed the major ESG initiatives taken
in 2024, the progress on the ESG targets and the 2024 ESG
report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Our Approach

The Group has established and adopted a Risk Management
Policy which is designed to manage the risk of failure associated
with the Group while achieving its business objectives and to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. A risk appetite statement has been
established to define the extent of risks that the Group is willing

to take in pursuit of its strategies and business objectives.

Clear roles and responsibilities are assigned to different levels of
management within the Group. The Board acknowledges that it is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Board also (i) oversees the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems; and (ii) evaluates and determines the nature and extent
of risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s business
objectives. The Board delegates the responsibility of reviewing
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems to the Audit Committee, which monitors the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems through
the Internal Audit Department. The Internal Audit Department
carries out independent review of significant risks (including
ESG risks), key business processes and controls. Key findings
and recommendations for improvement are regularly reported
to the Audit Committee. The external auditor also reports any
control issues which have been identified in the course of audit or
review work to the Audit Committee. Management is responsible
for designing, implementing and monitoring risk management
and internal control systems, whereas risk owners appointed by
the management are responsible for identifying, analysing and
prioritising risk issues for further consideration by management
and ensuring that the risk monitoring and control system are
working effectively and risk mitigation actions are implemented

timely within business units.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Effectiveness Review

In 2024, the Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems for the reporting period. The Board
considers that the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are effective and adequate and the internal audit function
is effective and adequate. No significant control failings or weaknesses
had been identified in 2024. The Board believes the Company has
the ability to adequately respond to changes in its business and the
external environment. The Board considers the Company’s processes

for financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance were effective.

The Board also considers that the Group has adequate resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
for accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions as
well as those relating to our environmental, social and governance

performance and reporting.
Continuous Improvement

We are committed to improving our risk management and internal
control framework and will continue to enhance the integration of

risk management and internal control into our business process.

For handling and dissemination of inside information, an Inside
Information Handling Policy is in place to enable the Group to
handle inside information in accordance with relevant requirements
and, where required, communicate with the Group’s stakeholders in a

timely manner.
Whistleblowing Policy

We are committed to high probity standards and ethical business
practices and believe that a whistleblowing system can help to detect
and deter misconduct or malpractice in the Group. The Company
has formulated the Whistleblowing Policy in accordance with the
requirements of the Stock Exchange. The Whistleblowing Policy
was approved and adopted by the Board, with the authority and
responsibility being delegated to the Audit Committee. Detail of the
Whistleblowing Policy is available on the website of the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Anti-corruption Policy

We are committed to doing business with integrity. The Company
has formulated the Anti-corruption Policy in accordance with the
requirements of the Stock Exchange. The Anti-corruption Policy
was approved and adopted by the Board, with the authority and
responsibility being delegated to the Audit Committee. Detail of the

Anti-corruption Policy is available on the website of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, the Board may, whenever
it thinks fit, convene a special general meeting, and special general
meetings shall also be convened on requisition, as provided by the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as the same may from time to
time be amended) (the “Companies Act”), and, in default, may be

convened by the requisitionists.

Pursuant to the Companies Act, at the date of the deposit of the
requisition, members holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company can submit a written requisition to the

Board for convening a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of

the Company.

If the Board fails to convene a meeting within twenty-one days from
the date of the deposit of the requisition, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from

the date of the deposit of the written requisition.

Such meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in
the same manner as that in which meetings are to be convened by
the Board. At least fourteen clear days’ notice in writing (and not less

than ten business days) shall be given to all members of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

To Make Enquiry to the Board

The Shareholders can make enquiry to the Board by writing to the

Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
To Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act, any number of members of the
Company representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the members having at the date of the requisition a right
to vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates, or not less
than one hundred members, can submit a written requisition to the

Board for putting forward proposals at general meetings.

The requisition must state the resolution with a statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
the proposed resolution or state the business to be dealt with at that

meeting, and the requisition must be signed by the requisitionists.

The requisition must be deposited at the registered office of the
Company no less than six weeks before the meeting in the case
of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution or no less than
one week before the meeting in case of any other requisition. The
requisitionists must deposit a sum of money reasonably sufficient to
meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution

and circulating the statement to all members of the Company.
To Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Members of the Company (other than the person to be proposed) who
are qualified to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company
can submit a written requisition to the Board to propose a person for

election as a director of the Company at a general meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited,
with a notice signed by the nominated candidate of his/her willingness
to be elected and the candidate’s information required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and a written consent from
the nominated candidate to the publication of his/her personal data,
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting at
which the candidate is proposed for election and ending no later than

seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Detail of the Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for

Election as a Director is available on the Company’s website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining

an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders and in the following ways:

(i) Convening Shareholders’ meetings where Shareholders could
communicate directly with the Board;

(ii)  Information of the Company would be communicated to

Shareholders in a timely manner through the publication of

the Company’s corporate communications including interim

and annual reports and circulars; and

(iii)  All of the Company’s corporate communications are available

on the Company’s website which is updated regularly.

The Board has established a Shareholders Communication Policy
setting out the principles in relation to communication with the
Shareholders, with the objective of maintaining full, open and
timely communication with the Shareholders. Review on the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder Communication

Policy will be conducted annually by the Board.

In 2024, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholder Communication Policy. Having considered the
multiple communication channels in place for Shareholders to
communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company,
the Board was satisfied that the Shareholder Communication Policy

has been properly implemented during 2024 and was effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no amendment to the Company’s constitutional documents
during 2024. An up-to-date consolidated version of the Company’s
constitutional documents are available on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont, aged 60, has been the Chairman and a
Non-executive Director of the Company since September 2014 and
was the chairman of the Nomination Committee from September
2014 to February 2024. Mr. Chearavanont is a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chearavanont has extensive
multinational investment and management experience in various
industries. Mr. Chearavanont is the chairman of Charoen Pokphand
Group Company Limited and holds directorships in the following
listed companies: a director and the chairman of CP ALL Public
Company Limited and Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company
Limited (companies listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand); a
non-executive director of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company
of China, Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shanghai Stock Exchange);
and an executive director and the chairman of C.P. Pokphand Co.
Ltd. (which was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited until its withdrawal from listing in January
2022). Mr. Chearavanont was appointed as a non-executive director
of Honma Golf Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) with effect from 29
November 2024. Mr. Chearavanont was previously a director of
True Corporation Public Company Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange of Thailand). Mr. Chearavanont obtained a
Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business and Public
Administration of New York University, USA.

Mzr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul, aged 82, has been the Chief Executive
Officer (Biochemical Division) and an Executive Director of the
Company since September 2014 and a member of the Nomination
Committee since February 2024. He is also a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company and a senior vice chairman of Charoen
Pokphand Group Company Limited. Mr. Phityaisarakul has extensive

management experience in a wide range of industries.
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Mr.
Company since February 1988 and an Executive Director, Chief

Thanakorn Seriburi, aged 79, has been a Director of the

Executive Officer (Industrial Division) and a member of the
Remuneration Committee since September 2014. He is a director of
several subsidiaries of the Company and a senior vice chairman of
Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited. Mr. Seriburi has been
working on investment projects for Charoen Pokphand Group in the
PRC since 1979 and has extensive experience in industrial operations

in Asia and elsewhere.

As disclosed in detail previously (including in the listing document
published by the Company on 17 June 2015 in connection with the
listing of its entire issued share capital on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), Mr. Phityaisarakul and
Mr. Seriburi, then executive directors of C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd.
(“CPP”), were censured in 1999 by the Listing Committee of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for acting in breach of their
undertakings (i) to comply to the best of their ability with the Listing
Rules (as they stood at that time) and to use their best endeavours
to procure that CPP would so comply; and (ii) to procure that CPP
would comply with the relevant provisions in the listing agreement
between CPP and the Stock Exchange which subsisted at that time
in respect of certain connected transactions of CPP. For details of the
censure and the breaches, please refer to the news release published by
the Stock Exchange on 3 May 1999 and the listing document referred
to above.

Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont, aged 63, has been a Director of the
Company since July 2014, an Executive Director of the Company
since September 2014 and a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee since December 2017. He is a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chiaravanont is also an assistant to
the chairman of Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited, vice
chairman of the automotive and industrial business group (China) of
Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited and a director of CPPC
Public Co., Ltd.

Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun, aged 58, has been an Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee since February 2019. He is currently a senior executive
of the Group primarily responsible for the management of the
Group’s biochemical business in China. Mr. Na Muangtoun also
holds directorships in several companies within the Group. Mr. Na
Muangtoun has been working for the Group since 1992. Mr. Na
Muangtoun received a Bachelor degree in Accounting from Payap
University in Thailand in 1989.
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Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe, aged 65, has been a Non-executive Director of
the Company since October 2015. Mr. Ikezoe is also a non-executive
director of C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (which was listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited until its
withdrawal from listing in January 2022). Mr. lkezoe is currently
Senior Adviser/Executive Adviser of ITOCHU Hong Kong Ltd. He
is also a director of Yamato Mobility & Mfg. Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as Yamato Industry Co., Ltd.) (a company listed on the Tokyo
Stock Exchange). Mr. Ikezoe had been Deputy CEO for East Asia
Bloc of ITOCHU Corporation (a company listed on the Tokyo Stock
Exchange) and Chairman of ITOCHU Hong Kong Ltd., ITOCHU
Shanghai Ltd. and ITOCHU (China) Holding Co., Ltd. for two
years beginning in 2021. Mr. Ikezoe has been working for ITOCHU
Corporation (formerly known as C.ITOH & Co., Ltd.) since 1983.
He received a Bachelor of Arts degree from the Faculty of Foreign
Studies, Osaka University in Japan in 1983.

Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom, aged 71, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company and a member of the
Audit Committee since September 2014, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee since February 2024 and was a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
from September 2014 to February 2024. Mr. Rounroengrom is also
an independent director and the chairman of Ekachai Medical Care
Public Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange of
Thailand). Mr. Rounroengrom had a long career with the Royal Thai
Navy and was the 48th Commander-in-Chief of the Royal Thai Navy
from October 2011 to September 2013 before he retired from the Thai
armed forces. He was the Supreme Commander Advisor from January
2014 to September 2014 and was a National Legislative Assembly
Member from August 2014 to May 2019. Mr. Rounroengrom obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree from the Royal Thai Naval Academy,
Thailand, in February 1977.
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Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, aged 64, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee since September 2014
and was a member of the Nomination Committee from September
2014 to February 2024. Mr. Cheng has over 30 years of expertise
in accounting, finance and corporate advisory services. Mr. Cheng
is currently also an independent non-executive director of the
following companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited: CSI Properties Limited, CPMC Holdings
Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, Miricor Enterprises
Holdings Limited, Kidsland International Holdings Limited and
China Renewable Energy Investment Limited. Mr. Cheng is also an
independent non-executive director of Somerley Capital Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Cheng was previously an independent
non-executive director of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited until its listing was cancelled with effect from 2 August
2021), C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd., Chong Hing Bank Limited and HKC
(Holdings) Limited (companies listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited until their withdrawal from
listing in January 2022, September 2021 and June 2021, respectively).
Mr. Cheng resigned as an independent non-executive director of
Top Spring International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) with
effect from 30 September 2024. Mr. Cheng obtained a Bachelor of
Arts (Honours) degree in Accounting from the University of Kent,
the United Kingdom in 1983 and a Master of Science (Economics)
degree, majoring in Accounting and Finance from the London School
of Economics and Political Science, the United Kingdom in 1984. He
is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and

the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.
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Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung, aged 64, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company and a member of the Audit
Committee since September 2014, the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee since December 2017 and was a member of
the Remuneration Committee from September 2014 to February 2024.
Mr. Ko is the principal of Messrs. Edward Ko & Company and has
been practising as a solicitor in Hong Kong for more than 30 years.
Mr. Ko is currently also an independent non-executive director of the
following companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited: Sinofert Holdings Limited, EverChina Int’l
Holdings Company Limited and China Vered Financial Holding
Corporation Limited (appointed on 22 March 2024). Mr. Ko was
previously an independent non-executive director of Sterling Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Ko obtained an external
Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University of London in the United
Kingdom in 1986 and is a member of The Law Society of Hong Kong.

Ms.
Non-executive Director of the Company and a member of the

Cheung Marn Kay, aged 57, has been an Independent

Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee since
23 February 2024. Ms. Cheung is currently the vice chairman of
CrossGate Advisors Limited. Prior to her current role, Ms. Cheung
was the Managing Director of BlackRock Asset Management North
Asia Limited, a subsidiary of BlackRock, Inc. (NYSE: BLK), from
1999 to 2012. Ms. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of British Columbia in 1992. Ms. Cheung is
presently the Treasurer of Council and Court member of the Lingnan
University and a member of The HKSAR Standing Committee on
Disciplined Services Salaries and Conditions of Service. Previously,
Ms. Cheung was a member of the Advisory Committee of the Hong

Kong Securities and Futures Commission.

RELATIONSHIPS AMONG DIRECTORS

Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont is a cousin of Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont.
Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul and Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi are brothers.
Save as disclosed above, there is no other material relationship among

members of the Board.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Various businesses and functions of the Company are respectively
under the direct responsibilities of the Executive Directors who are

regarded as senior management of the Company.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and/or sale of
animal health products and chlortetracycline (“CTC”). Additionally,
the Group is also involved, through its joint venture and associated
company, in the trading of machinery and the manufacture and sale of

automotive parts.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review with financial key performance indicators analysis
and future development of the Group is set out in the sections headed

» o«

“Chairman’s Statement”, “Financial Highlights” and “Management

Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, a discussion
on the environmental policies and performance, compliance with laws
and regulations and the key relationships with stakeholders are set out

below.

For further information about the environmental and social
performance of the Group for this financial year, please refer to the
2024 ESG report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware of
any important event affecting the Group since the end of the financial

year under review.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are discussed
below. Details of the Group’s financial risk management are set out in

note 33 to the financial statements in this annual report.

Market Competition

The Group faces intense competition from other producers of animal
health products and CTC. New players may also enter the market,
competing with the Group for our existing clients and negatively

impacting the Group’s market share.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

X E B ER

A H

Report of the Directors

EEHRES

EREREERRE T IAGEBRE R E
T A=A Bk A RS A B Rk o

TEXER

A P B R o B AR B o R
R o PbAh o A H TR 0 I A A 3 T A
e o5 B 5 B S M B I R A o

£ EI)

755 T 4 S 2 T (% B 5 R R BLAR AR 2 AT )
RRBFRBAASFERERRAEE] - [HHEHE
B 48 2L ik i B 43 A | =4

A% 55 v S R A Tl TR R B ER BOR
Bo 3 BRIV SF 0 A0 L ML B T o > DA % B HY
HEBEBRIIWT -

A R A 45 T i A B B4 B AR BRI R AL T R BLI B X
FORE > W2 B R RS - T IR o

B A 4F 3R T e A > 1 I R A R A R > I
AN G2 AT 5 B A B B PR K A o

TERRBRTRERER

A 45 o] i e i L o e A e R R R R o AR
AR [0 A DL B 2 A SO A 4 i A B A
#E33 °

TSR F

A 4R [ T B A 19 A 5B DR AL 4 i R < R A A
FA R B T o BT HE A 1 O T BB AT - 4 T B
JAM B F BV B 5 B S AR I i 5 A U SR AN A
E;EE o

57 =

RN FF R

4]



42

CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ H

Report of the Directors
EEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Volatility of Commodity Prices

The availability and prices of the necessary raw materials of animal
health products and CTC may be adversely affected by factors beyond
the Group’s control, such as weather conditions, natural disasters or a

sudden surge in demand.

If the supply of raw materials is disrupted to a material degree or if
there is a substantial increase in the prices of raw materials, and the
Group is not able to purchase the same raw materials of the same
quality from alternative suppliers at competitive prices or to transfer
such material price increase to customers, the Group’s financial
condition and operating results may be materially and adversely
affected. Management will set a safety stock level and continuously
collect and analyse the commodity prices information when

purchasing these raw materials.
Licenses and Permits

In accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Group
is required to obtain and maintain various licences and permits in
order to commence and operate our business. In addition, in order
to export and sell products overseas, the Group needs to obtain
various government approvals and comply with applicable standards
in relation to production processes, premises and its products in the

countries where the Group sells.

Although the Group currently has the necessary licences and permits,
the eligibility criteria for such licences and permits may change
from time to time and may become more stringent. In addition, new
requirements for the grant or renewal of such licences and permits
may come into effect in the future. The introduction of any such new
and/or more stringent laws or regulations may significantly escalate
the compliance and maintenance costs or may limit or even prohibit
the Group to continue its existing operations or expand its business.
Management continuously keeps abreast of regulatory changes in the

relevant laws and regulations on licenses and permits.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Product Liability

If the Group’s products fail to perform as expected, or prove to
be defective or result in accidents, personal injuries, casualties or
financial losses to customers, the Group may be subject to liability
claims for damages. If products do not meet the specifications and
requirements requested by customers, or if any of the Group’s products
are defective, such defects or any complaints or negative publicity
resulting therefrom could result in decreased sales of the Group’s
products, and the Group may also be subject to product liability claims
and litigation. The Group’s internal quality control team oversees
quality assurance controls and systems throughout the production
process.

Disease Outbreak

Any animal disease outbreak, such as bird flu and African swine fever,
may cause widespread animal death, and hence would affect demand
for our products and results of the Group. Further, any human disease
outbreak, such as COVID-19, may also disrupt the Group’s business,
including delay in raw material supply, workforce availability due
to people movement restrictions and outbound logistical delays in
our delivery of products to customers. The Group will monitor the
situation and adopt appropriate measures to minimize the impact on

the Group’s business and operation.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Environmental Compliance

Our CTC production is required to comply with applicable
environmental protection laws and regulations in the PRC which
govern the standards of air pollution, waste water discharge and
noise emissions. Local PRC government and authorities generally
have the authority delegated by relevant laws and regulations to
impose penalties on companies failing to comply with the relevant

environmental protection laws and regulations.

In addition to the existing environmental protection laws and
regulations, the PRC government may promulgate new and stricter
environmental protection laws and regulations in the biochemical
industry in the future which may apply to the Group. As a result,
compliance with such legal requirements will become more
burdensome and we may incur additional costs in production process
and operations, which may ultimately adversely affect production
and results of operations. The Safety, Health and Environmental
Committee of the Group oversees relevant environmental policies

affecting the Group’s operations.
Occupational health and safety

The Group aims to provide a safe working environment for its
personnel. Measures taken include risk assessments and the
development of systems and procedures for monitoring, prevention
and control of potential hazards. However, workplace accidents
can still occur due to various factors such as human error, lack of
knowledge or understanding, non-compliance, unclear work guidelines
or malfunction of machinery or equipment. These incidents can result

in injuries, illnesses or even fatalities among employees.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group cares about environmental protection. We have
devoted significant operating and financial resources to ensure
that our production complies with environmental protection laws
and regulations in the PRC. In 2024, there was no incidence of
non-compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the business of the Group.
Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group strives to comply in all material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations which are regarded as having a significant impact
on the Group, and has not come across incidence of material breach

or non-compliance during 2024.
Key Relationships with Stakeholders
Employees

We highly value our talents and are committed to providing a safe
work environment to our employees. The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, experience and prevailing
market rates while performance bonuses are granted on a discretionary
basis. Other employee benefits include, for example, medical
insurance and training. We also ensure our recruitment policies are in
compliance with national regulations in the areas of equal opportunity

and anti-discrimination.

We have in place safety guidelines and operating manuals setting
out safety measures for the production processes. In accordance
with applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, we provide our
employees with training programs on work safety including trainings
on safe usage of chemicals and machineries, accident prevention and
management. We also conduct regular inspections on our machineries

to ensure compliance with safety standards.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Key Relationships with Stakeholders (continued)
Customers

We strive to provide products of the highest quality to our customers.
Our operations are certified with ISO 9001, GMP and we have
stringent internal quality control procedures in place. We have set
up our own laboratories to conduct product testing as part of our
internal quality assurance. To monitor our customers’ satisfaction, the
Group’s sales teams listen to customers’ needs and opinions. With the
continuous feedback from our customers, we will continue to improve

our product and service qualities.
Suppliers

The Group has set up supplier management policies in accordance
with the laws and regulations in the PRC to monitor the supplier
selection process. The quality of incoming materials is ensured under a
well-established control process in our production plants. We carefully
choose suppliers that share the same commitment to product quality
and work ethics with us. In our procurement process, suppliers are
evaluated based on a number of assessment criteria, including their
service quality, environmental and social performances and ability to
supply high-quality products on a consistent basis. We also perform
on-site inspections of suppliers as and when necessary to ensure our

requirements are met.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s financial performance for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the financial position of the Group at that date are set out
in the financial statements in this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to declare a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024.

The register of members holding ordinary shares of the Company
will be closed from 5 June 2025 to 10 June 2025, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of ordinary shares of the Company
will be registered. In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ eligibility
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company to be held on 10 June 2025, all transfer forms for
ordinary shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration before 4:30 p.m. on 4 June
2025.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The consolidated assets, liabilities and results of the Group for the
five years ended 31 December 2024, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, are as follows:

A H

Report of the Directors
ESHREE

MBEMRE

ALEEE R TNEST A=+ Bk TR AR
AR RO SEAT (IR 8k A O T B R %
MEBE#RL)WT

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
SRONE CECSSE SRS SRS CESRE
US$°000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
FrnFrx  Frtr Frtfr FrTr FErTr

Total assets Mg E 422,214 377,374 350,585 365,216 330,698
Total liabilities LA 161,702 125,356 94,833 81,693 80,088
Non-controlling interests FEd il 1 25 25,739 23,588 24,902 30,464 22,611
Equity attributable to shareholders of the A/ v Jit 3 £ i 25

Company 234,773 228,430 230,850 253,059 227,999

422,214 371,374 350,585 365,216 330,698

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to A 7] B R A ACAE JEE
shareholders of the Company A/ (BR) 11,168 2,553 (6,677) 8,532% 16,255
* Excluding gain on factory relocation of US$11,032,000. * AN i i B W £ 1,103. 285 980T ©

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 14

to the financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in issued shares of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 29 to the financial

statements in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to

offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During 2024, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity in this annual report,

respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to US$19,750,000 (2023: US$18,519,000).

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations for charitable and other
purposes amounting to US$10,000 (2023: US$10,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s purchases for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Revenue attributable to the largest customer and the five largest
customers accounted for 47% and 61%, respectively, of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024. The largest customer
was High Orient Enterprises Limited (“HOEL”), its subsidiaries and
other associates of Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited
(“CPG”) but excluding C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (“CPP”) and its
subsidiaries (“CPP Group”). HOEL is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of CPG, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Further, one of the five largest customers was CPP Group. CPP is
held as to 75% and 25% respectively by Charoen Pokphand Foods
Public Company Limited and ITOCHU Corporation, both substantial
shareholders of the Company.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates
or the Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest

in the Group’s five largest customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the

date of this report were:

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi

Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung

Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (appointed on 23 February 2024)

All non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a successive term of one year and three years,
respectively. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation, but
may offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings in

accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 99, Mr. Thirayut
Phityaisarakul, Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo and
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung will retire by rotation and, being eligible
and willing, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. Details of each of the above
retiring Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company are set out in the circular to the

Shareholders to be sent together with this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 9 to the

financial statements in this annual report.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined with reference to
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of

the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below and the related party
disclosures as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements in this
annual report, none of the Directors or his/her connected entity had
any material interests, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the business of
the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party at any time during the

year or at the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below and the related party
disclosures as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements in this
annual report, there had been no contract of significance between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this annual report, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures

of the Company or any other body corporate.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding in the Company’s

securities.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules—=Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) are set

out below:

Directors’ interests in shares of the Company
(Long Positions)

A H

Report of the Directors
ESHREE

B H% R %

S S A 0 2B A ] PRI P SRR A AR L R T A

EERTRARERAQAREEEREZE
MG  HEROREEZNESRAR

PERIDUAEH A= H o MRS TR R
Bl 5535 20 B A2 v AR 2y W) A7 2 % AC i #Y R R > X
s B A R 8RC3 2 BB AT N SRR S
A2y W AE AT F (TR S ) ) g A 2 ) % Mgk 32 o %
HY B A > A R R R AT BOM R AR A W R
I 35 P (4% 8 25 B 0 B e 1 SR XV AR BT S A2 ) Y
JBe A ~ R R P A7 B A M s 4 e 2 S IR T RN

EEREAQARDHER
(F#)

Approximate percentage
of the issued

Number of ordinary ordinary share

Name of director Capacity shares held capital of the Company

A2 5 BB AT

Pt 4 3 2 W 30 e iz A

HREAWH 55 Ji& 4y ¥ H WA e

Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul Beneficial owner 410,000 0.17%
AR B S e HuHEA A

Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi Beneficial owner 625,848 0.26%

WA A
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
ORDINANCE

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (not being a director
or chief executive of the Company) had the following interests and
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO:

BER LA

EERTRARBEAAARELAEEE
MR - RO REEE R LA
(%)

B LAt e g A > R ZWNEH A=+ —H >
A4 R 25 I U B AR ) SR 35 24 WL SE Fh AR A W i AE 2
RO A GE B > S B B R A D 1k A 2 ) R O 2
Fir %t R A o WL AT ) A 2 ) o AT BOA R AR
A ) e R U B (358 2 B9 65 R0 S XV BT
R ) Wy ~ AR BR B R RE R B A AT T R
IR A -

TERREBBEEZRBERAREAT
REREEZIAXABNAL

MEFZNAES A= H s RS RN R
Bl 55336 Bl A2 i AR 2 ) M 47 2 B Al i iRl 8% > T
FIN A (FEA A 7] 0 3 S sl 47 BOAER) i AC 2 W] 1 Ji
P B F Bl P A B AT O RE 25 M BRI T

Approximate
Number of

shares and

percentage of the

issued ordinary

underlying  share capital of the

Name of shareholder Notes  Capacity shares held Company
A 2y W)

Al BRm R BT A

i 3K 44 1 Hat B4 By 8 H J A BE 24 & Oy kb
(Note 1) (Note 1)

(Hfit1) (Htit1)

Charoen Pokphand Group (2) Interest of controlled corporation 127,748,147 (L) 53.07% (L)

Company Limited ¥ ] ;T RE 2%
Charoen Pokphand Foods (2)

Public Company Limited controlled corporation

Beneficial owner and interest of

127,748,147 (L) 53.07% (L)

T AR A\ S % 18 ] 3 1 2

CPF Investment Limited (2)

Beneficial owner

WA A

Beneficial owner

WA A

ITOCHU Corporation
7 T S 7 Sk X Ak

115,137,370 (L) 47.83% (L)

60,179,593 (L) 25.00% (L)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
ORDINANCE (continued)

Notes:

(1)

The letter “L” denotes a long position.
(2) Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited (“CPF”) held
127,748,147 shares and underlying shares of the Company, which
included (i) 115,137,370 ordinary shares beneficially owned by CPF’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, CPF Investment Limited and (ii) 12,610,777
convertible preference shares beneficially owned by CPF. Charoen
Pokphand Group Company Limited also declared interest in these

shares by virtue of its shareholding interest in CPF.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no persons (not
being a director or chief executive of the Company) had any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 18 March 2015. The Share Option Scheme will remain
in force for ten years from the date of listing on 3 July 2015.

The Share Option Scheme was established for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible persons of the Share
Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, senior executives,
employees of the Group and those persons that, in the opinion of the

Directors, have contributions or potential contributions to the Group.

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall not in aggregate exceed 24,071,831 shares, being 10% of the
total number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue on the date of
listing on 3 July 2015.

The maximum number of ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of
share options granted under the Share Option Scheme was 24,071,831
shares, representing 10% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company

as at the date of this report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the
share options granted to each eligible person under the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the ordinary
shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in advance

in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive Directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any
of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the ordinary shares of the
Company in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’s ordinary shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to the Shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Directors but shall commence after the grant and end on a date
which is not later than ten years from the date of grant of the share

options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Board,
but shall be at least the highest of: (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of grant of the
share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
ordinary share of the Company. Share options do not confer rights on

the holders to dividends or to vote at a general meeting.

As at the date of this report, no option had been granted, exercised,

cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had entered into
the following continuing connected transactions that are subject to
the Listing Rules’ reporting requirement for disclosure in this annual

report.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Master ITOCHU Supply Agreement

On 13 September 2023, the Company entered into an agreement (the
“Master ITOCHU Supply Agreement”) with ITOCHU Corporation
(“ITOCHU”) for the purchase of various additives and other related
biochemical products required by the Group in the manufacture and/
or sale of chlortetracycline and other related products by the Group
from ITOCHU and its subsidiaries from time to time.

The Master ITOCHU Supply Agreement took effect on 13 September
2023 and would continue until 31 December 2025.

As at 13 September 2023, being the date of the Company’s
announcement, ITOCHU was interested in approximately 25% of
the shares of the Company in issue and was a substantial shareholder
of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the Master ITOCHU Supply Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules and
were subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but
were exempted from the circular (including independent financial
advice) and the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the Master ITOCHU Supply
Agreement was US$1,400,000 and the actual purchases recorded
amounted to US$335,000.

2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement

On 14 September 2023, the Company entered into a master purchase
agreement (the “2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement”) with
HOEL for the sale and supply of various chlortetracycline products,
animal drugs, animal health products and other related products
produced and/or sold by the Group to HOEL and other associates
of CPG (including the CPP Group, but excluding the Group). The
2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement took effect on 1 January
2024 and would continue until 31 December 2026. The 2023 Master
HOEL Purchase Agreement and the annual caps were approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company on 16 November 2023.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement (continued)

As at 14 September 2023, being the date of the Company’s
announcement, CPF was interested in approximately 47.8% of the
issued ordinary shares of the Company and was the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Furthermore, approximately 45.4%
of CPF’s issued share capital was held by CPG. Due to CPG’s near
majority shareholding in CPF, the Company and CPG have agreed
to treat CPG as a substantial shareholder of the Company and its
subsidiaries (including HOEL which is its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary) and their respective associates as connected persons of
the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Therefore,
transactions under the 2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement were
treated as if they were continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the 2023 Master HOEL Purchase
Agreement was US$162,900,000 and the actual purchases recorded
amounted to US$160,254,000.

Listing Rules Compliance

The Internal Audit Department has reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and had no material findings
of non-compliance to report to the independent non-executive

Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
Group’s continuing connected transactions and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and

in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

In respect of the above continuing connected transactions, the
Company has complied with the relevant announcement, circular and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules from time to time.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Listing Rules Compliance (continued)

KPMG, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information”, and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. KPMG has issued an unqualified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance

with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Transaction with other related entities with the same shareholders
as CPG, which is disclosed as related party disclosures in note 32 to
the financial statements in this annual report, does not fall under
the definition of connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction, or is fully exempt under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

and thus is not disclosed above.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other transactions of the
Company which require disclosure in this annual report in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Directors were not aware that during the year ended 31
December 2024, any of the Directors had interest in any business
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group which falls to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 178, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance for its Directors and officers.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was

entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions prescribed in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix Cl1 to the Listing Rules throughout the year 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that
the Company has maintained the amount of public float as required
under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

KPMG will retire and a resolution for its re-appointment as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Thanakorn Seriburi
Director

Hong Kong
24 February 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KPMG!

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with members’ limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chia
Tai Enterprises International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 150,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

material accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the current year. These matters were

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
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statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4(n).

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from the sale of
biochemical products. The Group generally recognises
revenue when products are delivered to the customer’s
premises for domestic sales or in accordance with the terms

and conditions of sale for export sales.

The terms set out in the Group’s sales contracts relating to
goods acceptance by customers are varied. Accordingly, the
terms and conditions of sales contracts may affect the timing
of recognition of sales to customers as each sales contract
could have different terms relating to customer acceptance

of the goods sold.

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and is, therefore, subject to an
inherent risk of manipulation by management to meet

targets or expectations.

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue

included the following:

° evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the

existence, accuracy and timing of revenue recognition;

o challenging the revenue recognition policies adopted
by the Group by making inquiries of management and
inspecting a sample of sales contracts to understand
the delivery terms of the transactions and to assess the
Group’s timing of revenue recognition with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting

standards;

o inspecting manual adjustments to revenue raised during
the reporting period which met specific risk-based
criteria, enquiring of management the reasons for
such adjustments and comparing the details of the

adjustments with relevant underlying documentation;

o assessing whether revenue had been recognised in the
appropriate accounting period by comparing a sample
of sales transactions around the year end with relevant
underlying documents, which included customers’
signed acknowledgement of receipt (for domestic sales)

and bills of lading (for export sales); and

o identifying significant sales returns from the sales
ledger after the year end and inspecting the underlying
documentation to assess if the related adjustments to
revenue had been accounted for in the appropriate

accounting period.
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Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and auditor’s report
thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of

internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.
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B

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the REMBREAREMBERRAENER

consolidated financial statements (continued) (&)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves

fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient e
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other — BRILALZFEIAA » A B FAZL Z B €@ 7 5 3 2%
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant w1 #i & -~ WEHZ¢HE - | RFFT BB S > SHERMA
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal  Z& &l sk B H P 36 22 1 A0 45 /T R B g -

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have — FKAMER I FAZ T B R BW > W RMEHEH
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence B 8 3k Ay FH B SR SE B FE BEoK » S B AL B @A 7T
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that  H8 F P M 4% 58 % €5 52 23 AN > M 1 Bir A I 43 An
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where — fBZHIE » DL K 7E 56 & 0TS LT » 48 BH A4 B 8 15 it o

applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Yip Ka Ming, Alice.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

24 February 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

RE T HWSER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

2024 2023
TR P TR =
Note US$’000 US$’000
M it e i FLF
REVENUE B A 5 307,748 173,979
Cost of sales B AR (258,814) (143,794)
Gross profit Ecy | 48,934 30,185
Other income, net At e A\ VR 6 4,362 2,525
Selling and distribution costs BB B4y B AR (13,348) (12,532)
General and administrative expenses B EHEH (24,409) (22,188)
Finance costs I 5 AR 7 (2,218) (1,954)
Share of profits and losses of: JRE A i F) B s 4B
Joint venture BB 548 4,816
Associate W 6] 18(b) 2,181 2,091
Profit before tax o 5t i 5 A1 8 16,050 2,943
Income tax EsYith 11 (2,134) (1,057)
Profit for the year A% A i F) 13,916 1,886
Profit attributable to: s A B T
Shareholders of the Company A\ T R 11,168 2,553
Non-controlling interests I i ] A 2 2,748 (667)
13,916 1,886
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

meEtEBER
Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - W4+ H=+—H ILF)¥

2024 2023
SR A ZRIES
Note US cents US cents
M 7t FAl FAl
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE A 2 ] Jit 5 B A 2
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE 5 JIt 6 A
COMPANY
Basic and diluted A K i 13 4.41 1.01
2024 2023
Note US$’000 US$’000
Mt F L FiL ForF oL
Profit for the year YN | 13,916 1,886
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME H b 22 i WK £
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HEWRRgETsEE
to profit or loss: HuZHH :
Exchange differences related to B Ah il 3 T 5 Iy
translation of foreign operations AH B Z B 5 2 (1,993) (2,044)
Share of other comprehensive income of: AR Ay G At 2 T WA
Joint venture GEAE (2,905) (3,071)
Associate I 2 A 18(b) (524) (505)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME A AR Atk 4 i WY 4%
FOR THE YEAR (5,422) (5,620)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME A 4 4 i W g A8 R
FOR THE YEAR 8,494 (3,734)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 4 1l W % A4 % b J& 7
Shareholders of the Company A A H] R 6,343 (2,420)
Non-controlling interests I e ) P A 2 2,151 (1,314)
8,494 (3,734)

Details of dividend for the year are disclosed in note 12 to the — ANHEFEZ B B af 15 7 B B R M sk 129 3 8% -

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB R R

At 31 December 2024 W W44+ _H=1+—H

2024 2023
-~y 111 - TR =
Note US$’000 US$°000
Mt =7t < i FoLF
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I B E
Property, plant and equipment LERY &L 14 99,639 95,951
Land lease prepayments FEAT A 15 4,423 4,878
Investments in joint venture NEBLENRE 17 98,717 101,074
Investments in associate T 2 o\ B & 18 21,383 19,726
Other non-current assets oAt I 38 B 19 20 712
Total non-current assets IR B R 224,182 222,341
CURRENT ASSETS i B & A
Inventories gty 20 33,053 39,690
Trade and bills receivables FEWCE 5 MRk e L 21 115,829 63,284
Prepayments, deposits and TR ~ &K
other receivables At W 3K 22 16,769 14,453
Cash and cash equivalents e kBl &5 EY 23 32,381 37,606
Total current assets HEUR B & 198,032 155,033
CURRENT LIABILITIES i RN
Trade and bills payables FEATEE 5 HE kS L8 24 67,521 24,952
Other payables and accruals At JRE A B 2k Ko TH AR 25 15,601 13,714
Bank borrowings SRAITE K 26 57,292 58,118
Income tax payables JE A B A5 A 3,794 3,304
Total current liabilities 48 3% B £ 18 144,208 100,088
NET CURRENT ASSETS R B 53,824 54,945
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEE 7E bk
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B £ 278,006 271,286
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEFBARRE
At 31 December 2024 W _F W4+ _H=1—H

2024 2023
-~y 111 TR CO=EF
Note US$’000 US$°000
M7t i i FoLFo
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES I i B £ 1
Bank borrowings AT 3K 26 11,877 20,050
Other non-current liabilities H A IR R 8 & & 27 1,253 1,648
Deferred tax liabilities B W T A 28 4,364 3,570
Total non-current liabilities #8 kR B A 1E 17,494 25,268
NET ASSETS jog- ¥ i: 260,512 252,018
EQUITY HE #3
Equity attributable to shareholders AR 2 ) B SR A HE 43
of the Company
Issued capital AT AR 29 25,333 25,333
Reserves ik 30 209,440 203,097
234,773 228,430
Non-controlling interests I e 1)k WE 2% 25,739 23,588
TOTAL EQUITY BE o A B 260,512 252,018

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the

Company on 24 February 2025.

Thanakorn Seriburi Z2&H#t

Director #HH

TR TIAE T T H R A ) e R
BHET AT B -

Thirayut Phityaisarakul 254 B
Director # 2
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A I
PRC Exchange Non-
Issued Capital reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital reserve funds reserve profits Total interests equity
o o SENH et
g# kA igN 4] 4 i AREAHE W (4] 4 4
US§°000 US$§°000 US$§°000 US$$°000 US$000 US$°000 US§°000 US§°000
Fifrx  FExfr  FEnfx  FExfxn  FEifx FEifx Eifx EiTr
(note 29)  (note 30 (b)) (note30(c))  (note 30(d))
(W#n) (Wi k) (Fo)  (W#)
REFZME-H—R 25,333 10,845 19,541 (3,712) 176,423 228,430 23,588 252,018
- - - - 11,168 11,168 1,148 13916
Other comprehensive income %Ml 2 4 :
Exchange differences related to -~ SAMUEHRHE R
translation of foreign operations - - - (1,39) - (1,396) (597) (1,993)
Share of other comprehensive — REAG A TS
sBpE i} i ; (2,905) - (2903) - (2909)
BaAT - (524) - (54) - (524)
Total comprehensive income
- - - (4,825) 11,168 6,343 2,151 8,494
- 6,061 (24) - (6,137) - - -
At 31 December 2024 REBZWEFZAZT R 25,333 17,106 19,517 (8,537) 181,354 234,113 25,139 260,512
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E X & ¥ B AR 24 8

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E _F _WFE -+ _H=+—HILEJE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

AR
PRC Exchange Non-
Issued Capital reserve fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital reserve funds reserve profits Total interests equity
RER SMENE ERiL3

LN LN b ffi RAEAH o i W
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$°000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
¥ifr  EXFA Fifr i ki ¥ifr  EXFA Fifr
(note 29)  (note 30 (b)) (note30(c))  (note 30(d))
Wit (Waton) (K50 (B#50(d)
At 1 January 2023 REZZZZE-A—H 25,333 10,845 19,317 1,261 174,094 230,850 24,902 255,752
(Profit)/loss for the year RERH /(R - - - - 1593 1,553 (667) 1,886

Other comprehensive income 4 MM 2 T :

for the year:

Exchange differences related o~ SAMBEH R ERFZ

translation of foreign operations 1 [ i 4 - - - (1,397) - (1397) (647) (2044)
Share of other comprehensive — REAG A TS

income of:

Joint venture BEbE - - - (3.01) - (3,011) - (.0m)

Associate Band - - - (505) - (305) - (0)

Total comprehensive income 4 4 2 i i 45 40 4

for the year - - - (4,973) 2,553 (2,420 (1,314) (3,734)
Transfer in/(out) #A/(h) - - 14 - (124) - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=EFZH=4—H 25333 10,845 19,541 (3,712) 176,423 228,430 13,588 152,018
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERERXR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

2024 2023
TR P e St o
Note US$’000 US$°000
&t Ve ETr n
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING HKEWBZHERNR
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax I 58 i ¥4 1 16,050 2,943
Adjustments for: R
Bank interest income HATH B BN 6 (1,389) (1,149)
Amortisation of government grant B #l B 5 8 (77) (70)
Finance costs B s AR 7 2,218 1,954
Depreciation of property, plant and W W5 R
equipment 8 7,992 6,336
Amortisation of land lease prepayments  FE A} 1 Mo F & # 2 Hi & 8 121 55
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEE - A&k
equipment, net i P 5 A 6 (1,135) (29)
Loss on disposal of land lease & A RS 2 1R
prepayments, net by 6 206 -
Share of profits and losses of: JRE A i 1) % s 1R
Joint venture e (548) (4,816)
Associate W 2% N ) 18(b) (2,181) (2,091)
21,257 3,133
Decrease in inventories 7R WA 5,632 4,759
Increase in trade and bills receivables JRE Wi B2 B M ek e B g B (55,055) (23,636)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TEAT IR K ~ % 4 S 3l B Uk
other receivables WK 0 (2,579) (2,885)
Increase in trade and bills payables JRE A B 5 TR sk e S 4 Mg 43,873 6,686
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Al R A5 R AR M TR AR B
and accruals ¥, () 2,058 (961)
Cash generated from/(used in) BENRE/ () 284
operations 15,186 (12,904)
Interest paid eATF & (3,077) (1,954)
Income tax paid A B 453 Bt (824) (1,204)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) BEEBHHEG(HH) 2
operating activities HeREFH 11,285 (16,062)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ZAEBRERER
Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE - ZF W4+ - H=+—H IL4)¥
2024 2023
-~ 111 TR =
Note US$’000 US$°000
7t E < i FoLFo
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFHZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and W E Y% R Rk
equipment (13,843) (11,112)
Dividends received from joint venture WHL A & A 7] kB - 2,794
Dividends received from associate W B 8 0 ) i B 1,740 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, Y - WE K
plant and equipment B 4% 5K = 1,444 29
Interest received 2 B 1,389 1,149
Net cash flow used in investing BREGHHAZHERE
activities e ] (9,270) (7,140)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEWHZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRAT G Sk A A5 2k 0 23(c) 46,735 92,968
Repayment of bank borrowings 18 35 SRAT A5 K 23(c) (53,808) (62,743)
Net cash flows (used in)/from REWE (), iz
financing activities HeREFH (7,073) 30,225
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RERBEZHED
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (4) /3 m i % (5,058) 7,023
Cash and cash equivalents at EWZ B & LB &% EY
beginning of year 37,606 30,859
Effect of foreign exchange rate A BE R 55 B) 2 5 B
changes, net (167) (276)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS “ERZHERHEHFED
AT END OF YEAR 23 32,381 37,606
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1

2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The
Company and its subsidiaries hereinafter are collectively
referred to as the “Group”. The Group and its joint venture
and associate are principally involved in (i) manufacturing
and/or sale of animal health products and chlortetracycline;
(ii) trading of machinery; and (iii) manufacturing and sale of

automotive parts respectively.

At 31 December 2024, the directors consider the immediate
holding company of the Company to be Charoen Pokphand
Foods Public Company Limited (“CPF”), which is incorporated
in the Kingdom of Thailand and shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and remains to be as such as
at the date of approval of these financial statements. CPF is
a significantly owned company of Charoen Pokphand Group
Company Limited (“CPG”), which is incorporated in the
Kingdom of Thailand.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using

consistent accounting policies.
Basis of measurement

These financial statements are presented in United States
dollars (“US$”), and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“US$’000”) except when otherwise indicated. The

functional currency of the Company is United States dollars.

2.1
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on these financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in

note 3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The IASB has issued a number of new standards, amendments
to IFRSs and interpretation that are first effective for the
current interim period. Of these, the following amendments

may be relevant to the Group:

Amendments to IAS 1  Presentation of Financial
Statements: Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current
(“2020 amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 1  Presentation of Financial
Statements: Non-current

Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of cash flows and

2.1

2.2.

fm BLE 2 (M)
156 P i B I ) R

e T I It S o U A R AT R R
i L B AR A~ A R R > %S
B ~ A L B i T BSRME DA % P 2
MR B WA KRB Z &8 o FE A
B B M T 6 7 o AR I % A AT B UL R A
5 7 £ BH AR 2% JEUHG b DR 3 I A0 1 > PR 2 &
SRS S A 1) B W S0 3 0 008 I fth 2R JERE 1S
B I B T i A B e o TR AR TR
T I Db S A B

7 55 0 7 5 5 A S A B R BRI AT
B o A wHAG B A0 8 T A Al SAE ET
A S0 [ A S > A R A T A D N e
CRRUICHE-E YT SR8 2
S A A 1 T 39 T R 2RI ] P e R

L A MR D 1R S o A U0 T A 2
7% B 75 8 A TR KR B B A i R B AR AR
A A B R P P > % R 3 v A o

EERRBEBEZER

B Bt R &% B A A T B
o i ) A o ) S BT SRR o MR AR P
HRAR o T IR b oAl RR AR WA B
3T

Jo B o 5 o ) WM BMELEE : RH
SR MERT EE SRR iR ]
([2020514&5T 1)

I B 7 i ) WA AR 0 - M
EALAGICH] Rk 2 Ik B £

I B 7 it ) BefEL ke T

and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: 5B 7% B I P Ho: 9 LR
Supplier finance arrangements o s 3R 4 H) Jogrg s
SETIR M AR ET
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B AR A

B

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 22 @ BEEREEZEXR(E)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
None of the new standard, amendment or interpretation have BHER ~ B FT MR R A S A 4E 1 E i K DA
had a significant financial effect to the Group for both current T S5 S PR K A o AR R AR
and prior reporting periods. The Group has not applied any 307 P Sl R A0 A T I A A KA B R R ~ 4B T
new standard, amendment or interpretation that is not yet B o
effective for the current period.
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 CHEMAEHMKRERNVBEREERS
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 8
STANDARDS
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB HREARAMBBRFETIED  HEEgsIRAEZR
issued a number of new standards and amendments which are O A8 A0 ST T R B T o B RT R
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and RIARBE R W4ET A=+ —HIRFE
which have not been adopted in these financial statements. W AR A 2 LR R A B R R AN - T
These include the following which may be relevant to the ¥ 7 16 SR AR A A IR A e R BT RGRRRE
Group:
Amendments to  The effects of changes in foreign exchange 2 B g w1 A [ FEE 25 585 W) 1) 3 2 -
IAS 21 rates: Lack of exchangeability! 2198 BT i Z WY
Amendments to  Financial instruments, and Financial [ B B R R R ST A NS T H
[FRS 9 and instruments: disclosures — Amendments SEOUE R AB TR WE—-4m T o8
[FRS 7 to the classification and measurement of ) HLEF & P BT
financial instruments?
Annual Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting AR B WU W B 75 Rk 3 B €
improvements Standards — Volume 112 e R B 4 B O
B8
IFRS 18 Presentation and disclosure in financial o] B P s R MR R B R AR P B R
statements’ 1858 %%
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without public accountability: B B R HER] RAALEMEN
disclosures’ 1958 FAH : B
' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 LR ZRAA A — HRZ R R A A
A3
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 2 AR INFE—H — H R AR B U Z AR Y T
A3
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 bR ZRIEE—H — B AR B G AR R R
AR
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of A LIRS B IR R AL ST 2B -
the impact of these amendments upon initial application. BEHW  AEERARHAZSETAGH
So far, the Group considers that the impact of adopting AR SR 45 B S R R B T KRB o
the amendments will have on the consolidated financial
statements are unlikely to be significant.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
these financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing these
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is

no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable

assets.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

(a)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with notes 2.4(h) or

(i) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are

made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture (see note

2.4(b)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less

impairment losses (see note 2.4(e)(ii)).

BER LA
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Associate and joint venture

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions. Significant influence is presumed to exist
when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the

voting power of another entity.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
or Company has joint control, established by contracts
requiring unanimoius consent for decisions about the
activities that significantly affect the arrangements’

returns.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in these financial statements under the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of
the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2.4(e)(ii)).
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment is
impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised as other

comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

(b)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Associate and joint venture (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the

joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investee, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be

accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as

the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 2.4(e)(ii)):

(i) buildings held for own use which are situated on

leasehold land; and

(ii)  other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing

costs (see note 2.4(p)).

Items may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are

recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or

disposal.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

(c)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment to their estimated residual value over the
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used

for this purpose are as follows:

2% to 4.5%
6% to 15%
10% to 33.33%

Industrial buildings

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

Motor vehicles and transport 9% to 33.33%

facilities

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are

reviewed annually.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the silos, factories
and warehouses under construction. Construction
in progress is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and

ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain

substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.
As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components and
non-lease components, the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease

components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as

an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in

which they are incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease

incentives received.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of

the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised

discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other

receivables).
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the

cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the

effect of discounting is material:

. fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an

approximation thereof; and

. variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future

economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following

bases:

° 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

° lifetime ECLs: these are losses that

are expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when the
debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security
(if any is held). The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information

that is available without undue cost or effort.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

o failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if

available);

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

o existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to

meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past

due status and credit risk ratings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instruments’
credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECLs amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a

loss allowance account.
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts

subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the

period in which the recovery occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously

recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased:

o property, plant and equipment;

o land lease prepayments;

o interest in joint ventures accounted

for under the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements (see

note 2.4(b); and

° investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial

position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.
Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating

unit).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (continued)
Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or

value in use (if determinable).
Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

f)

(9)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2.4(e)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting
would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are

stated at cost less allowance for credit losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

U]

1)

(k)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,

using the effective interest method.
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would

be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash

flows.
Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their

present values.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.
Retirement benefit schemes
Hong Kong

The Group has the following two categories of
defined benefit plans:

- defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme

- LSP under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance

The Group’s obligations in respect of defined
benefit plans is calculated separately for each
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in the current and
prior periods and discounting that amount. For
the MPF Scheme, contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme. For LSP obligations, the estimated
amount of future benefit is determined without
deducting the negative service cost arising from
the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with

employees.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)

Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

PRC

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC
government, subsidiaries of the Group in
mainland China are required to make specific
contributions to the state-controlled retirement
plan at rates not more than 16% (before 1 May
2019: 20%) (the percentage to be determined
by each of the government of the provinces,
autonomous regions or municipalities) of the
total salaries of the employees in mainland
China. Certain provinces, autonomous regions
or municipalities are overburdened by the
pension insurance due to higher number of
retired people, it is required to make specific
contributions at rates higher than 16%
(before 1 May 2019: 20%) (the percentage
to be determined by each of the government
of the provinces, autonomous regions or
municipalities) of the total salaries of the
employees upon approval of the ministry of
labour and the ministry of finance. The PRC
government is responsible for the pension
liability to the retired employees. The
employees of the subsidiaries are entitled to
a monthly pension at their retirement dates.
The subsidiaries have no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual

contributions.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

U]

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax

assets and liabilities are:

(i) the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business

combination); and

(ii)  temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the

future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the
end of each reporting period. Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the

liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

U]

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances, deferred tax balances and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the

following additional conditions are met:

(i) in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

(ii) in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either; or

e the same taxable entity; or

. different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and

settle simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected

to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any

trade discounts.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition

policies are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Sales
returns are allowed only when the products are
damaged or defective. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, applying the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15. If the
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods
and services promised under the contract on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. As the
remaining performance obligations (if any) is
part of a contract that has an original expected
duration of one year or less, the Group has
applied the practicable expedient in paragraph
121 of IFRS 15 and such information is not
disclosed. Besides, the Group recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as
an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the assets that the Group otherwise
would have recognised is within one year or less,
applying the practical expedient in paragraph 94
of IFRS 15.

Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments

is recognised when the shareholder’s right to

receive payment is established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or financial assets measured
at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (recycling) that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss

allowance) of the asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life
of the asset by way of reduced depreciation

expense.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

(o)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising from
foreign currency borrowings used to hedge a net
investment in a foreign operation which are recognised

in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises such
non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was

measured.

For the purpose of presenting these financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the entities now
comprising the Group denominated in currencies other
than US$ are translated into US$, the presentation
currency of the Group, using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive

income and in equity in exchange fluctuation reserve.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale

are interrupted or complete.
Related parties
(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(a) has control or joint control over the

Group; or

(b) has significant influence over the Group;

or

(c) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s

parent.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Related parties (continued)

(ii)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(a) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(b)  one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(c) both entities are joint ventures of the

same third party.

(d) one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(e) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

(f) the entity is controlled or jointly

controlled by a person identified in (i).

(g) a person identified in (i)(a) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

(h) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the

Group or to the Group’s parent.
P psp

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a

majority of these criteria.
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received a consideration (or an amount of
consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). The Group
receives a certain percentage of the contract value as a
deposit from certain customers, which is recognised as a
contract liability. Contract liabilities are recognised as

revenue when the Group performs under the contract.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgments

and estimates:

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

As explained in note 2.4(e)(ii), the impairment loss
for property, plant and equipment is recognised for
the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount when events or changes in
circumstance indicate the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amount of the assets, or,
where appropriate, the cash generating unit to which
they belong, is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. The recoverable amounts are
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal
which are based on the best information available
to reflect the amount obtainable at the reporting
date, from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length
transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties,
after deducting the costs of disposal. For the estimation
of value in use, the Group’s management estimates
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate

the present value of those cash flows.
(b) Impairment of interest in joint ventures

Management reviews the carrying amounts of the
investments in joint ventures at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. When indication
of impairment is identified, management assesses
the differences between the carrying amounts
and recoverable amounts and makes provision for
impairment loss. Any change in the assumptions
adopted in calculating the recoverable amount would
increase or decrease the provision for impairment loss
and affect the Group’s share of profit or loss of joint

ventures and interest in joint ventures in future years.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - W4+ H=+—H ILF)¥

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has two

reportable operating segments:

° the biochemical segment is principally engaged in the
manufacture and/or sale of animal health products and

chlortetracycline; and

o the industrial segment is principally engaged in the
trading of machinery and the manufacture and sale of
automotive parts, through the Group’s joint venture

and associate.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax except that bank interest income, finance
costs and items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as head office or corporate administration

expenses are excluded from such measurements.

Segment assets exclude unallocated corporate assets.
Unallocated corporate assets include cash and cash
equivalents, income tax receivable and other assets that are

managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated corporate liabilities.
Unallocated corporate liabilities include bank borrowings,
income tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and other

liabilities that are managed on a group basis.

All revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
at the point in time when our customer obtains control
of the promised goods, i.e. when products are delivered to
the customers’ premises for domestic sales or in accordance
with the terms and conditions of sale for export sales. The
major product line of the Group is the manufacture and/or
sale of animal health products and chlortetracycline in the

biochemical segment as disclosed in note 4(a).

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

geographical location of customers is disclosed in note 4(b)(i).
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 reEHER ()
(continued)
(a) Reportable operating segments (a) TWUERKEDE
The following tables present revenue, profit or loss and VR AR 5w 2 R85
certain assets, liabilities and expenditure information NEE_FEZ AR _F =4+
for the Group’s reportable operating segments for the HE+t—HILEERZBA - #HiE X
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. AT EE - AKHER -
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZF-_WE+-HA=+—HI
AR
Biochemical Industrial
operations operations Total
AL EH TRER k]
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Sy i ) an F#L L
Segment revenue Vg LN
Sales to external customers HETI KK P 307,748 - 307,748
Segment results g B3
The Group AL E 18,222 (1,904) 16,318
Share of profits and losses of: A A i ) % s 4
Joint venture HEMR¥E - 548 548
Associate R /AT | - 2,181 2,181
18,222 825 19,047
Reconciliation: WETEE -
Bank interest income SRAT R B A 1,389
Finance costs I 5 AR (2,218)
Unallocated head office and A3 Be A5 R R A S B
corporate expenses (2,168)
Profit before tax g A iy ¥z A1 16,050
Other segment information oAt 43 38 B
Depreciation and amortisation 8 % B 8,113 - 8,113
Capital expenditure” A S 13,843 - 13,843

Including additions to property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE - ZF W4+ - H=+—H IL4)¥
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 BESBER (HF)
(continued)
(a) Reportable operating segments (continued) (a) TWERKLEIE(E)

At 31 December 2024

REFZNESZH=+—H

Biochemical Industrial
operations operations Total
G 37 THEER fks]
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Y i Sy E Sy abn
Segment assets R E 266,009 123,783 389,792
Reconciliation: WETEE
Unallocated corporate assets Ry HL A E A 32,422
Total assets HE 422,214
Segment liabilities Vi =R 83,044 60 83,104
Reconciliation: TAEIEE
Unallocated corporate liabilities 7% 43 Bt 4> 3 £ f& 78,598
Total liabilities A 161,702
Other segment information I Atb 43 28 % B
Investments in joint venture NEBECENRE - 98,717 98,717
Investments in associate T o F ] IR - 21,383 21,383
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 reEHER ()
(continued)
(a) Reportable operating segments (continued) (a) TWERKEDIE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z_=Z#+_HA=+—HI
AR
Biochemical Industrial
operations operations Total
AL THEK A%
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
FoLF FoLF FEo T T
Segment revenue BB A
Sales to external customers HETINRE P 173,979 - 173,979
Segment results Vg E ¥
The Group N 123 (1,367) (1,244)
Share of profits and losses of: A i B % s 4R
Joint venture aEak - 4,816 4,816
Associate I 2 A ) - 2,091 2,091
123 5,540 5,663
Reconciliation: WEIEE
Bank interest income SRAT A B A 1,149
Finance costs I 5 AR (1,954)
Unallocated head office and A 43 L 48R Mo A 26 B
corporate expenses (1,915)
Profit before tax s 5t iy ¥z A 2,943

Other segment information H At 43 8 & B

Depreciation and amortisation 18 S B 6,391 - 6,391
Capital expenditure’ Jcg N 11,112 - 11,112
* Including additions to property, plant and equipment. IR B SO R
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B 7% 3R & M EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - W4+ H=+—H ILF)¥
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 rReETHER (E)
(continued)
(a) Reportable operating segments (continued) (a) TWERKLEIE(E)
At 31 December 2023 N_FE_=F+_H=1+—H
Biochemical Industrial
operations operations Total
AL TEEK A
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
FL T T Fo T FEo T oc
Segment assets I E 215,163 124,578 339,741
Reconciliation: WETEE
Unallocated corporate assets KAy HLA EE A 37,633
Total assets K E 377,374
Segment liabilities oA 39,118 22 39,140
Reconciliation: WETEE
Unallocated corporate AR 43 TC A 3 £ K
liabilities 86,216
Total liabilities FAR=E 125,356
Other segment information H s 43 B R
Investments in joint venture REBEEENRE - 101,074 101,074
Investments in associate G R s - 19,726 19,726
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B 7% R 3R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 reEHER ()
(continued)
(b)  Geographical information (b) HEEBER
(i) Revenue from external customers (i) KEINREF Z KA
2024 2023
ZE YA ZERI=EH
US$’°000 US$’000
By n F T
Mainland China Hh g K B 233,230 107,950
Americas KM 32,116 24,647
Asia Pacific HH A Hh [
(excluding mainland China) (42 955 o ) 27,375 28,725
Europe [k M 12,387 5,157
Elsewhere oAl Hb )y 2,640 7,500
307,748 173,979
The revenue information shown above is based AW AR TSR P O A H
on the location of customers. Sr5H o
(i) Non-current assets (i) FRBEE

At 31 December 2024, 99% (2023: 99%) of
the Group’s non-current assets are located in

mainland China.
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B % ] & Mt &=
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E _F _WFE -+ _H=+—HILEJE
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReEFWER (&)
(continued)
(¢) Information about major customers (c) FEERFEH
The Group had the following customer (including ARLEEBEY T &F (554 4 M| i
sales to entities are known to the Group to be under I AP AR N kR
common control with this customer) with whom B 2 A2 5 B8 A A N AR R IRA
transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue #10% :
during the year:
2024 2023
B Y e St o
US$’000 US$’000

F 7 T 70 FL T L

High Orient Enterprises Limited High Orient Enterprises Limited
(“HOEL”) and its related entity, (THOELJ) K a2 »
excluding C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. ANEFE I B AT BR A W) B H
and its subsidiaries (“CPP Group”) J& &) (TCPP4EE ) 144,545 49,726
5 REVENUE 5 KA
Revenue represents the aggregate of the invoiced value of W AT B Bl R B M n 2 > iR &
goods sold, net of value-added tax and government surcharges, T8 G5 2 2R 4 A B o v A 3 A 1B s
and after allowances for goods returned and trade discounts BA B R4 HE RSB 1598 M H B N IR - Fr g AR
recognised within the scope of IFRS 15. All of the Group’s HEZ WA R A AL EE -

revenue is from the biochemical segment.

6 OTHER INCOME, NET 6 H At g A F 58
An analysis of other income, net is as follows: HALWAF#EI W T -

2024 2023

US$’000 US$’000

E Ve Fo T

Bank interest income SRAT R B IR A 1,389 1,149
Government grants BT B 1,828 1,143

Gain on disposal of property, plant and B -~ B Kok

equipment, net it F] 15 AR 1,135 29
Loss on disposal of land lease prepayments, net 8 F A + M Fl B 2 Jis 15 35 5 (206) -
Foreign exchange differences, net AP HT S 22 B R (236) (303)
Others At 452 507
4,362 2,525
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B 75 ] 3 Mt &=
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E R _P4F+_H =+ —H ILF)JE
7 FINANCE COSTS 7 B 7% B A
2024 2023
SR A TRI=Eg
US$’000 US$’000
E e FL T
Interest expense on bank borrowings AT R Z A B A 3,077 2,883
Less: Interest expense capitalised” IR DES ¢l - N | (859) (929)
2,218 1,954

* Interest expense was capitalised at interest rate based on the *

respective loan facilities of 3.20% — 5.05% per annum (2023:

3.30% - 5.05% per annum).

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of land lease prepayments

Impairment of trade receivables, net

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, net

Loss on disposal of land lease
prepayments, net

Expense relating to short-term leases
(lease term of 12 months or less)
and/or leases of low-value assets

Auditors’ remuneration

Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ emoluments — note 9)
Wages, salaries and benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions

F5.05%) #H5 -

8  BREBEATREF
Note
wit
[BAREF ST N
LI Y &Y P
14
TR 4 B o 4 8 15

H B S~ W B A i ) R A
H H FEA - o L 2 s 4R

PR S B AL (FELE I &0
BARIMEA) » Kk

REEEEMEZ M
A% 5 il T <
R B A A S (53 4 -
B 5E9)
T - i L IEBL B A 4
1B A 42 itk

2024
—F A
US$’000

F 6 T 7
258,814
7,992

121
138

(1,135)

206

521
251

17,353
1,718

TG ARG 7% #4524 A R
3.20%F5.05% (SR =4 L AR HK3.30%

A SR W R BE T A SR (FEA) FRI&IE -

2023
ZERIES
US$°000
FL F L
143,794
6,336

55
)

(29)

448

240

17,640
1,544
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E _F _WFE -+ _H=+—HILEJE
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9 EEXEMe
Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to Section 383(1) MR BRG] E383 ()R AT (R
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the FM 75 EORE) RIS AR B E o oA 4K
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BUF -
Directors) Regulation are as follows:
Salaries,
allowances, Retirement
and benefits ~ Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
B W
we  REHENE Bt e 4L IR 4 e 5k ik
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$000 US$'000
FLFI FLTL ELFL Eonon ELFr
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-ZomE
FZREF—HEEE
Chairman and non-executive director: #HF R RFHTE S :
Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont A A - - - - -
Executive directors: Vi
M. Thirayut Phityaisarakul BHB S - - - - -
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi RS E - 532 - - 532
Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont ARNEAE - - - - -
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun B - 312 - - 312
- 844 - - 844
Non-executive director: FRfTHEE - - - - -
Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe iR — A - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: M7 KB AT H 3 -
M. Surasak Rounroengrom Surasak Rounroengrom &4 31 - - - 31
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo WA 31 - - - 31
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung [ S 31 - - - 31
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (appointed on & B &+ (R ZF Y42
23 February 2024) AZH=AERE) n - - - 0
120 - - - 120
Total directors’ emoluments HEMEAEH 120 844 - - 964
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B 7% R 3R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9 EEMe (F)

Salaries,
allowances, Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
B
we  RERSASG Rt A 4L B4 % ok
US$'000 US$'000 US$000 US§'000 US$000
FrFr ELTr FELFr ELTT EL T
Year ended 31 December 2023 BREZZZZR
FIAZ—HIEE

Chairman and non-executive director: ~ BHRREHFESH :

Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont L RN - - - - -
Executive directors: hESE:
Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul BB - - - - -
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi B EE - 531 - - 532
Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont ARNEA - - - - -
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun BlEHEL - 451 69 - 511
- 984 69 - 1,053
Non-executive director: FBfTES - - - - -
Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe WiRE— 4 - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BukufmEs:
M. Surasak Rounroengrom Surasak Rounroengrom 8 4 31 - - - 31
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo WA 31 - - - 31
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung R A 31 - - - 31
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (appointed on HEHLL (R TWE
23 February 2024) ZAZHEREEL) - - - - -
93 - - - 93
Total directors’ emoluments ML BE 93 984 09 - 1,146
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Bt 7% 3R 3k M EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - W4+ H=+—H ILF)¥

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9 EEMe (F)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emolument REREZF_WFE+_HA=+—HILEE >
was paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to AR A [F0 7 0 S A5F T 4 4 2 = DL 4 A AR 4R
join or upon joining the Group as compensation for loss of VA A o A A R R AT 2 i I T 25 L 2 A A
office (2023: nil), and there was no arrangement under which (R =) > P EEFRELAER
a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments (2023: RAT I & Z R (=40 ]) o
nil).
10 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10 ENUBSFMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two N AR AR B B M (SR =
(2023: two) directors. Details of the emoluments are set out in A fL) W KA MFER AR L
note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2023: Fif5E9 o i F3AL (B =4 1 3f0) JEHEF
three) non-directors are as follows: M4wmTF :
2024 2023
e L' CRIES
US$’000 US$°000

#7010 FKL T oL

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind - HEG K IEB 4 2R 616 651
Discretionary bonus T 1% 6 4L 10 69
626 720
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose B W I FE T R B N SR DL AR 4
emoluments fell within the following bands is set out below: mF:
2024 2023
TR UL TR =M
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
& B #H R ¥ H
US$128,001 to US$192,000 (equivalent to 128,001 KIGE192,00058 76 (FH F i
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000) 1,000,001 %% 76 £ 1,500,000%% JG ) 2 1
US$192,001 to US$256,000 (equivalent to  192,0013&7C %£256,00035 78 (F % 7
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000) 1,500,001 7€ %2,000,000% 7T - -
US$256,001 to US$320,000 (equivalent to 256,001 3765 320,00036 56 (FH & 7
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000) 2,000,001 JC £2,500,000% 7T ) 1 2
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2024 B E R _W4E+_H =+ —H IL4F )%
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10 EfuESFMES (&)
(continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emolument was WEREZF_WFE+_A=Z+—HILEE >
paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees A A5 1B NI S0 S A T 4 A LA I v R R B =2
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as FEA] — AL > DL i A A 4 1 s 7 i A AR 45
compensation for loss of office (2023: nil). W R A A R PR IR (=4
) o
INCOME TAX 1M FrigHt
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the AR A B s A AE B R TG AL T U i AR ] R LG
year as the Group did not generate any assessable profits in WA > B DRI ARG AR WA SR8 (2
Hong Kong during the year (2023: nil). TR ) o
Subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China R4 v B £ S BT A BB > 5 b 2 N R SR A
(“PRC”) are subject to income tax at the rate of 25% (2023: ([ ) 8 28 2 Bt g 2 =0 7 7t 0 ME SR B I
25%) on their taxable income according to the PRC corporate AFEBER25% (R 248 2 25%) R B
income tax laws. In accordance with the relevant tax rules and Bt o FRHR HP 1 2 R B G % S Rl B ) 0 ARAR
regulations in the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group in Ly P e g A R S e A
the PRC enjoy income tax exemptions or reductions. BRZERE-
2024 2023
TR TP e St o
Note US$’000 US$’000
M 7t BV F T T
Current — the PRC AR —
Charge for the year AAE B 37 1,511 512
(Over)/under-provision in prior years (X AC AP E (98) 18
Deferred i At 28 721 527
Total tax expense for the year AR AR PG TE 4 3 th 2,134 1,057
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M 5

Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - W4+ H=+—H ILF)¥

INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for PRC in which the Group

principally operates to the tax expense is as follows:

11

FriE®t (&)

He b (745 1] 0 0 M B ) Y 9k 2 A R
B3 e e B i v ) A B I P SRR JE 2
EL R SS

2024 2023
TR ZRIES
US$’000 US$’000
b n Fw T
Profit before tax e A i ¥ £ 16,050 2,943
Tax expense on profit before tax, calculated at % H [ 4 & i 19 BLBL R 25% K
the PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% [ogx 56 i i ) 5 A ) LS S 4,013 736
Lower tax rates enacted by local tax authority  $% % & Hb [% BE % 5 A A =2
LB (947) (715)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the i AR A 1 e b o 2 DB A
distributable profit of the Group’s subsidiaries, & % £t 3& K& W 4 2 & W] 43 e A1)
joint venture and associate in PRC, net T BB 10% 2 5 B F 65 676
(Over)/under-provision in prior years AR () /At (98) 18
Profits and losses attributable to joint venture — FEAG F %5 A 2 R Ih 4 /A ]
and associate Y A I i 15 (682) (1,727)
Expense not deductible for tax AF IR SZ 255 2,069
Others HoAty (472) -
Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate AR A BOBLR R
B S th 2,134 1,057
Pillar Two income taxes XHEZREHR

The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the OECD. Under the rules, the Group is liable
to pay a top-up tax for the difference between their Global
Anti-Base Erosion (GloBE) effective tax rate per jurisdiction
and the 15 per cent minimum rate. Of the various jurisdictions
where the Group operates, Pillar Two legislation has not yet
been substantially enacted in Hong Kong and the Mainland
China at 31 December 2024. However, it is expected that
Pillar Two legislation will be enacted in Hong Kong during the
financial year 2025 with effective date set retrospectively from
the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2025. The
top-up tax for the Group’s Hong Kong companies is expected
to be negligible in 2025 as there will be no taxable income to

be incurred by these entities during the financial year 2025.
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E K &

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 5 3R & MY &

X E B ER2A

Year ended 31 December 2024 B E R _W4E+_H =+ —H IL4F )%
12 DIVIDEND 12 BKRE
The Board has resolved not to declare a dividend for the year HRFEBARBEE_F_WE+ A

ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

Et—AIREEZBRE (RS E) -

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13 ZAQFRREMLE2ZREFR
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the B9 B B AR ¥ R 4 B 2 FH LTI AR IR A A W] B BR
profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company JRE A A 4 55 6 R T 4 9 B8 AT 2 35 i e )
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares and P JBE A8 S B i RE P B o

convertible preference shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the A I BE A i B ) R4 DL SO A -

following data:

2024 2023
TR EC=E
US$’000 US$’000

F 7 T 70 FL T oL

Earnings v
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of I F %1 55 48 Bt BE AR {62 A1) 2
the Company, used in the basic earnings per AR ] B SRS AT I A ¥
share calculation 11,168 2,553
2024 2023
Shares J& oy
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and i A 5153 49 Ji & AC 365 1] =2 A< 48
convertible preference shares in issue during CVBEAT 2 3 0 B B v e it A
the year, used in the basic earnings per share 56 5% im RE - 35 8%
calculation 253,329,087 253,329,087
As there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares during R-FZNER ZFZZ44FAFTZAZ+—H
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount of 1k A B 30 ] SN R Y AR S A N > WA I
diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share. ) R A IR B AR A o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RN FF R



CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E K @

X E B ER2A

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M 5

14 HPE- -HERRE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - W4+ H=+—H ILF)¥
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
fixtures Motor
and  vehicles and
Industrial ~ Plant and office transport  Construction
buildings ~ machinery ~ equipment facilities  in progress Total
R %E HHR
TEBT  RERES REARE  EE&RE FRLR ok
Us§ 000 US$000 US$'000 US$000 US$'000  US$'000
Wit Frxfrz Fxtrz - FExTr  FExTr  FExTr FrTx
(note (a))
(Wit(a)
At 1 January 2024 RZZZME—-]—H
Cost JRA 56,547 79,038 13,318 616 12,662 162,181
Accumulated depreciation R E R
and impairment (15,501)  (42,842) (7,422) (465) - (66,230)
Net carrying amount T 0 41,046 36,196 5,896 151 12,662 95,951
Net carrying amount I T £
At 1 January 2024 REZZWE—A—H 41,046 36,196 5,896 151 12,662 95,951
Additions wE 45 1,866 1,776 - 1,015 14,702
Depreciation provided during 4 M & 97 #
the year (2,855) (2,436) (2,520) (181) - (7,992)
Transfer in/(out) #@A/ () 1,884 4,937 2,591 T4 (9,486) -
Disposals J& 8 (26) (239) (44) - - (309)
Exchange realignment E b A 2 (1,111) (1,311) (145) 4) (142) (2,713)
At 31 December 2024 REZFZWEHZAZA—H 38,983 39,013 7,554 40 14,049 99,639
At 31 December 2024 REZZZMEFZA=Z—H
Cost AR 56,814 82,850 17,093 683 14,049 171,489
Accumulated depreciation REHTE R
and impairment (17,831)  (43,837) (9,539) (643) - (71,850)
Net carrying amount JgiiTpe 38,983 39,013 7,554 40 14,049 99,639
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
E K f&© ¥ B AR & A

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 5 3R & MY &
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E & _W4E+ - H=+—H L4

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ BERZE (E)
(continued)
Furniture,
fixtures Motor
and  vehicles and
Industrial ~ Plant and office transport ~ Construction
buildings  machinery  equipment facilities  in progress Total
I %8 HHER
IEBT RERES REARE  EERE  GRIR ok
Note  US§'000  US$000 US$'000 US$000 Us§ 000 US$000
Wi Frfrz Fxfr - FExTfr @ FExTr  FExTr FxTx
(note (a))
(Wit(a))
At 1 January 2023 RZBZ=ZHE—-A—H
Cost A 47,078 67,957 11,677 1,562 28,876 157,150
Accumulated depreciation LS Y&t
and impairment (14,215) (41,595) (6,351) (1,142) (63,303)
Net carrying amount T T o 0 32,863 26,362 5316 420 18,876 93,847
Net carrying amount I
At 1 January 2023 RERZ=E—H—H 32,863 26,362 5,326 410 28,876 93,847
Additions #E 62 464 486 48 10,052 1,112
Depreciation provided during 4 WM 97 #
the year 8 (1,744) (2,966) (1332) (294) - (6,336)
Transfer in/(out) /() 10,811 13,115 1,566 1 (25,493) -
Exchange realignment E b A 2 (946) (779) (150) (24) (773) (2,672)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZHFZAZ4—H 41,046 36,196 5,896 151 12,662 95,951
At 31 December 2023 REBZZEFZAZ4—H
Cost AR 56,547 79,038 13318 616 12662 162,181
Accumulated depreciation REHE R
and impairment (15,501) (42,842) (7,422) (465) - (66,230)
Net carrying amount G T 0 41,046 36,196 5,896 151 12,662 95,951
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - W4+ H=+—H ILF)¥

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ BERZE (E)

(continued)

Notes: et -

(a) At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s industrial (a) RoZF_NEF_HA=Z+—H » KEH
buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of A at IR FE 52,013 58 KL (ZFE =
US$20,135,000 (2023: US$29,105,000) were pledged to secure AE 291058 KL XA T TEMFE - O
certain bank borrowings of the Group (note 26(a)). M 2 A 45 T T SR AT A5 K B R4 A (B 5

26(a)) °

(b) Ownership certificates of certain properties with an aggregate (b) RoZ_WNEFH=+—H > REE W
carrying amount of US$186,000 (2023: US$283,000) at 31 Rt & sHER WA B 1868 E T (R =
December 2024 are yet to be obtained. AR D283HRIL) XA T EWAA A B

o

LAND LEASE PREPAYMENTS 15 FERNLEESE
2024 2023
Note US$’°000 US$’000
Bt ik E e F T
Carrying amount at 1 January A — H R E 4,878 5,168
Amortisation provided during the year AF 9 FH R R 6 8 (121) (55)
Disposal IR E (206) -
Exchange realignment e be. 3 %% (128) (235)
Carrying amount at 31 December HTHZHA=1T—HEmA 4,423 4,878

Note: &t -

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s leasehold land with an
aggregate carrying amount of US$3,913,000 (2023: US$4,693,000)

were pledged to secure certain bank borrowings of the Group (note

26(a)).
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E K & ¥ B AE R A A
Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ] 3 Mt &=
Year ended 31 December 2024 B E R _W4E+_H =+ —H IL4F )%
16 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16 RHEBATRMNRKRE
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost. Particulars of the T BEF B 2 ) B 3 TS R R AR B W o 45 A B
principal subsidiaries are as follows: AR ZFEREWT
Place of Nominal value of Percentage of attributable
incorporation/ issued and equity interest held by
Company name operations paid-up capital Company Group  Principal activities
JEAY 55 TR B 4 b
A w41 JR O/ Y C B AT T 481 8 i A i £ Y/ A%EH FEREH
Pucheng Chia Tai Biochemistry PRC/PRC RMB279,890,000 issued/ - 69.7% Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. (Notes (i) and (ii)) g RMB234,890,000 paid up and sale of
WIIE R LA RA R 279,890,000\ R ¥ LB 47,/ animal health
(Wt R (i) 234,800,000\ R ¥ EL 44 2 products and
chlortetracycline
B TR 5 B R
ATy T 5 S
Zhumadian Huazhong Chia Tai PRC/PRC RMB72,000,000 - 69.7% Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. (Notes (i) and (ii)) di 72,000,000\ R ¥ and sale of
BERS 5 IE KA RA W animal health
(Wit (i) R (i) products and
chlortetracycline
BE R/ BEHR
& T3V &
Notes: M
(i) The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The English (i) GHBAEREMAR AT AW

name is for identification purpose only.
(ii) Registered as a contractual joint venture under the PRC law.

The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
Group’s profit and losses or formed a substantial portion of the
Group. To give details of all the other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % ] & Mt &=
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E _F _WFE -+ _H=+—HILEJE
INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURE 17 REegELENRER
2024 2023
SR A TRI=Eg
Note US$’000 US$’000
B it L TIC FILF oL
Interests in joint venture, included in WEERENRER >
non-current assets: E%%;F‘i}ﬁ@]gg pq :
Share of net assets JEAL & A (a) 98,717 101,074
Interests in joint venture P A ENRER 98,717 101,074
Notes: Mz
(a) Particulars of the principal joint venture, which is indirectly (a) HAAFRBEEREAZ ETEA B LR
held by the Company, are as follows: W
Percentage of
HHEASL
Nominal Interest
Place of value of issued attributable
incorporation/ and paid-up to the Profit Principal
Company name operations capital Group sharing activities
(&% ZFY) A 4 1
AR JHROL, 8 B0 e AR i L JRE A RE 25 JRE A 83 A B 37
ECI Metro Investment Co., Ltd. British Virgin US$12,000,000 50% 50% Investment
5501 W A BR A T Islands/ 12,000,000 7T holding and
Hong Kong trading of
o JB A 8 S machinery and
B HE spare parts
BB
FHEI &
WS
ECI Metro Investment Co., Ltd (“ECI Metro Investment”) ECI Metro Investment Co., Ltd ([ ECI
was established by the Group with an independent third party Metro Investment]) H1 < £ 4 B8 — i 8 57
investor, to distribute Caterpillar products in the western part BB =07 BB F AL > DL F B G S s [ 4y
of the PRC. 89 R R A R o
ECI Metro Investment is an unlisted corporate entity whose ECI Metro Investment%y M I 7 55 ¢ fE i A&
quoted market price is not available. b A SR o
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B &FR 2 A

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% 3R o3& MY &

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

17 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURE 17 REELENRER (E)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Mk - (4F)
(b) Summarised financial information of ECI Metro Investment (b) W R AR A 25 B B 4% > ECI

and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “ECI Metro Group”),

adjusted for any differences in accounting policy, and a

Metro Investment 5 J B J&§ 23 %) (%4 [ ECI
MetrofE 1) 1) B 25 R BE 22 » o A A 75

reconciliation to the carrying amount in these financial WEMRTHESRESENT
statements, are disclosed below:
2024 2023
R ZRT=
US$’000 US$’000
F L F L FIL T T
Gross amounts of ECI Metro Group’s: ECI MetrofE [ DL F 45 JE ) 48 %5 -
Currents assets i B 245,008 260,823
Non-current assets B & A 46,136 48,461
Current liabilities R 85,954 97,515
Non-current liabilities I H) 6 7,756 9,621
Equity W% 197,434 202,148
Included in the above assets and liabilities: FhOA bt R e A
Cash and cash equivalents B& kB 4% MY 61,901 78,836
Revenue WA 282,004 322,782
Profit from operations 7842 % F) 1,096 9,633
Other comprehensive loss Aty 2 T 4R (5,810) (6,137)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2T (ER) Wk 485 (4,714) 3,496
Dividend declared 43T JBe ) - (5,587)
Included in the above profit/(loss): AP LHEw R (BR) -
Depreciation and amortisation R SE ¥ (4,571) (6,098)
Interest income BB A 1,865 3,009
Interest expense A B # M (910) (1,024)
Income tax (expense)/credit RSBt (&) R (1,344) 383
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in ECI B A4 B AECT MetrofE [
Metro Group: RE 25 W B -
ECI Metro Group’s net assets ECI MetrofE H % 2 i 197,434 202,148
Group effective interest 2 45 1B A BB 2% 50% 50%
Carrying amount in the consolidated ok B O i 2 A MR T A
financial statements 98,717 101,074
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
E X & ¥ B AR 2 A

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% 3R & M EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - W4+ H=+—H ILF)¥
18 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE 18 REEARINWER
2024 2023
- Y 11! 2 ZRIES
Note US$’000 US$’000
Bt 7t F L Fi FEo T oc
Interests in associate, included in T A R R RE RS
non-current assets: BENIERBEEN :
Share of net assets JRE Ay 3 (a) 21,383 19,726
Due from associate, included in JRE WA W 2 A W) KA
prepayments, deposits and other B TR AR -
receivables i & T - Ath, E WO HR 3k 3,640 3,757
Interests in associate T Uk 8 o =) O RE 25 25,023 23,483
Notes: M EE -
(a) Particulars of the principal associate, which is indirectly held (a) HARAFMBERAEZ BEES AR FN
by the Company, are as follows: W s
Percentage of
REASLL
Nominal Interest
Place of value of issued attributable
incorporation/ and paid-up to the Profit Principal
Company name operations capital Group sharing activities
LT AL
AR FROL ) B A0 R e A T 4EL JRE A B 25 JRE A w6 ] FHEH
Zhanjiang Deni Vehicle Parts PRC/PRC US$21,250,000 28% 28% Manufacture
Co., Ltd. vh s e 21,250,0003470 and sale of
VR TS H AR A A B ) automotive parts
JE S IR B AR
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B &R D

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% R 3R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

18 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE (continued) 18

Notes: (continued)

(b) The Group’s interests in associate are regarded as not

individually material. The following table summarises, in

B

REE QTR ER (H)
Wik : (49)

(b) A I S e A 45 2 1 1) 3 P BB 4 A
B o T A WAt DARE 5 5 51 R A I

aggregate, the financial information of the associate that are ] 1 B 5 ORE AR L -
accounted for using the equity method:
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
B B
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial %% A5 3% 3 A4 JR i (i
statements 21,383 19,726
Amounts of the Group’s share of associate: AR A T A gk A ]
Profit from operations #8585 ¥ A1) 2,181 2,091
Other comprehensive loss oA 2 i s 4R (524) (505)
Total comprehensive income 2V W B A 1,657 1,586
19 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19 HkERBEE

The Group’s other non-current assets as at 31 December 2024

represent deposits paid for land use right.

ALMP ZFE A =4 B AL
I T Y g A 9 R e o

20 INVENTORIES 20 #FE
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
LT 7T E/nyan
Raw materials J5 R 9,166 6,542
Work in progress T3 4,990 15,783
Finished goods JEE B 18,897 17,365
33,053 39,690
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
E X & ¥ B AR 2 A

Notes to the Financial Statements

B % ] & Mt &=
Year ended 31 December 2024 W E R WA H=1—HIL4)E
21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21 ERESRIAREE
2024 2023
SR A =S
US$’000 US$’000
E e FoLF oL
Trade receivables FE W B 5 IRk 114,821 61,810
Bills receivable JE W S % 1,008 1,474
115,829 63,284
Depending on the requirements of the market and business, W iig REBETFR > KEFSLBTEF
the Group may extend credit to its customers. The Group seeks 5 B A o 7S 45 [ S 45 IR 3K BR B A 2 B
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. o BHEITEREEBRB 4R » I
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management 6 HAS S5 1) 2 2% T 54 ) 7 s 2 D RS
and interest may be charged by the Group for overdue trade MR - REF A » AREE R A W HLE
receivables at rates determined by the Group with reference b A5 BB o A R A AR T 0 AR B SR e R ML
to market practice. In the opinion of the directors, there is no B Wk B S 1 R W A B B < wE I LB
significant concentration of credit risk. Further details on the FE33(b) o AREEMERE ZIEH (LS HM
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade and Fy B HE) R BEWCEE (DB TH W ) 2
bills receivables are set out in note 33(b). An aging analysis WRE TR -
of the Group’s trade receivables (based on the date of delivery
of goods) and bills receivables (based on issue date) are as
follows:
2024 2023
e <y L' K e Y
US$’000 US$’000
6 F L FILF T
Trade receivables: JE W BT 5 Rk
60 days or below 60H E AT 79,002 33,849
61 to 180 days 61&180H 30,755 19,033
Over 180 days Zj*180H 5,064 8,928
114,821 61,810
Bills receivables: JRE W S
60 days or below 60H LT 353 1,105
61 to 180 days 612 180H 655 369
1,008 1,474
115,829 63,284
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E kA & % B A B
Notes to the Financial Statements
BY 75 3% K M 5%
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E & _W4E+ - H=+—H L4
21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21
(continued)
Note:

Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 December 2024
were aggregate amounts of US$81,389,000 (2023: US$36,646,000) due
from related companies, arising from transactions carried out in the
ordinary course of business of the Group. The balances are unsecured,
bear interest at rates determined by the Group after past due and are
repayable within credit periods similar to those offered by the Group to

its independent third party customers.

22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22

n

B

BHREZERRREE (&)

Mt -

AREEMP R ET HEF—HZRERE S
JR kB 95 AR AR T R4 R S A B W T A A
7%58,138.9% K0 (R Z=4F : 3,664.68 K 70) B
BT Z KT o AR T RN > PR R AR
A5 P 58 IR R ET B B ZE AR e A (B4R
0 i 8 ST AR =05 P SR B R R AR B AR o

BNRMN - e R H A EKRK

RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
e~y 11! E- TECEE
US$’000 US$’000
6 Tt FKILTIC
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AT HRSK ~ 424 K Il

Y W 16,769 14,453

Note: Mt -

Included in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables
as at 31 December 2024 was an aggregate amount of US$3,640,000
(2023: US$3,757,000) and US$1,445,000 (2023: US$218,000) due
from associate and related companies respectively. The balances are

unsecured, interest-free and with no fixed terms of repayment.
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23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 23

E K @

X E B ER

A H

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M 5

Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - F WA+ H=+—H ILF)¥

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

RERBITERREGCRERER

2024 2023
—® A T =t
US$’000 US$’000
< n i E e n

Cash and bank balances other than B4 RATHTR
time deposits (A LG E A7 3500 8,315 13,107
Time deposits 7 WAk 24,066 24,499
Total cash and bank balances Bl & Mo SRATAF R 4B A 32,381 37,606

Notes:

(a)

At 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to RMB49,683,000 equivalent to US$6,806,000 (2023:
RMB64,098,000 equivalent to US$9,028,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB into other currencies through banks authorised

to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying
periods depending on the cash requirement of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent

history of default.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 23

RERBITERAREMBRERESN

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) (#&)
Notes: (Continued) Mk - (4F)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (c) Tl 5 Y By A A M AR 2 R

The table below sets out changes in the group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flow were, or future cash flow will be,

classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as

cash flows from financing activities.

TR AT G R A B A AR R
b > B B Bl G A IR B AL - fil
9 B0 T S A O SR B i B R AR
S B e W A A Bl B AR T A
R T S ) P 4 P B iR A

Total bank
borrowings
HUT A AR AR
US$’000
B
At 1 January 2023 BB =4£—H—H 49,102
Changes from financing activities cash flow: AEB SRR -
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRATAE R B 15 3Kk JE 92,968
Repayment of bank borrowings RT3 (62,743)
Total changes from financing activities cash flows il B U e AR B ) 79,3217
Exchange realignment iEE B, ) % (1,159)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 REOBTEZATHZHE
R OpE—A—H 78,168
Changes from financing activities cash flow: ME B SRS -
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRATAE 3K A 3R I 46,735
Repayment of bank borrowings PR RAT A 3K (53,808)
Total changes from financing activities cash flows il B U e AR ) 71,095
Exchange realignment FEE B, ) % (1,926)
At 31 December 2024 RERZOWETH=Z4—H 69,169
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - F WA+ H=+—H ILF)¥
24 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 24

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables (based on the

date of receipt of goods) and bills payables (based on issue

BENEZERIARE

A AR T S o 9 A HE A B 5 Mk (DL B H
S B 8 ) B ME A S 08 (DL BRAT HOJ9) 2 R )

date) as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ZHRE T

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
E e B

Trade payables: FEAT B2 5 MRk -
60 days or below 60H DL 48,908 16,895
61 to 180 days 61&180H 13,481 2,113
Over 180 days %2 J*180H 5,132 592
67,521 19,600

Bills payables: JEAT 4 -
60 days or below 60H LT - 5,352
- 5,352
67,521 24,952
25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HitENEXRERER

2024 2023
SR A ZRIES
US$’000 US$’000
E /e Enyan
Contract liabilities HHIAE 4,607 3,055
Accruals HEE R 5,396 4,369
Other payables At JBE A B 3k 5,598 6,290
15,601 13,714

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has contract liabilities
of US$4,607,000 (2023: US$3,055,000), which represents

the obligation to transfer goods to customers for which the

consideration has been received.
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B 7% R 3R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

B

25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HMEMKRIARFERER (&)
(Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was a WBREZF-NFELF_H=Z+—HILFE
decrease of US$3,055,000 in the contract liabilities (2023: P p 7 e R N T 2 B 4 B R k3055
US$2,847,000) as a result of recognising revenue and an BRI (CE = 128478 F0) AR
increase in contract liabilities of US$4,607,000 (2023: A TEHCGET & B EA A AR 460,78 300
US$3,055,000) was recognised as a result of deposits received TR =M 30558 KI0) o
prior to goods delivery.
Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals as at 31 AEH _F-WEFHA=Z+—HZHAb
December 2024 were an aggregate amounts of US$347,000 FEAT MRk K AR B 3478 L (R =
(2023: US$1,827,000) due to related companies. The balances A 182,785 0) o BB A W] Z ik Y
with related companies are unsecured, interest-free and have G ~ R EF S H I R R o
no fixed terms of repayment.
26 BANK BORROWINGS 26 RITIER
2024 2023
Note US$’000 US$’000
M aE E e a7 FoLFo
Bank loans, secured A IR AT A % (a) 18,754 21,678
Bank loans, unsecured 9 A SR AT A K 50,415 56,490
Total bank borrowings SRAT G sk 4B (b), (c) 69,169 78,168
Analysed into amounts repayable: TR S F AT S -
Within one year or on demand —AE N B R K 57,292 58,118
In the second year A 603 8,833
In the third to fifth year R =FEEHAE 11,274 11,217
Total bank borrowings SRAT A k8T 69,169 78,168
Portion classified as current liabilities 5338 K I By B AR A (57,292) (58,118)
Non-current portion I B A 11,877 20,050
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26

27

E X &© ¥ 8 B & R

Year ended 31

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment of US$20,135,000 (2023: US$29,105,000)
(note 14(a)) and land lease prepayments of US$3,913,000
(2023: US$4,693,000) (note 15) were pledged as security for

bank borrowings of the Group.

(b) All the bank borrowings of the Group were denominated in
RMB.
(c) As at 31 December 2024, none of the covenants relating to

bank borrowings had been breached (2023: nil).

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

A H

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 3k M EE
December 2024 # F - _WE+__HA=+—HILEE

26 SRITER ()
Wi :

(a) MR-FZWEFZA=Z+—H > RERZ
HTWE - MG R #2,013.58 %50 (2
FEAE 0291058 3K 00) (M ak14(a)) K&
A LA EEI3E KL (R =
A 146938 3 00) (MFRELS) CAE R A H
SRATAE sk Z LA A o

(b) AR Z A AT A K3 AN R A2 B
Lo

() MIEFZWUEFZAZ T ABEER

P24 B SRAT A K R (2R =4
) -

27 HMERBERE

2024 2023
TR TR CEE
US$’000 US$’000

E S FoT Tt

Non-current portion of deferred income JE L B B Y 8 SE WA 1,253 1,648

The deferred income of the Group as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 represented the government grants received and will
be recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the

expected useful lives of the relevant assets.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E & _W4E+ - H=+—H L4

BER LA

28 DEFERRED TAX 28 EEBIE
The components of the Group’s deferred tax liabilities and A > AR ) 2 R A B B A AL AR
their movements during the year are as follows: W
Dividend
withholding
tax Others Total
JBe &, 10 0 B A oAt Ham
Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
M &t FILF T FILF T FILF oL
At 1 January 2023 R_-F_=4#—H—H (2,406) (685) (3,091)
Deferred tax credited/ ERREIZAFTAS
(charged) to profit or (HBR) Z 38 R IE
loss during the year 11 (456) (71) (527)
Exchange realignment [iEE b, ) 39 9 48
At 31 December 2023 e Y e (2,823) (747) (3,570)
At 1 January 2024 WN_F_WNHE—H—H (2,823) (747) (3,570)
Deferred tax credited/ FENPNERAFA
(charged) to profit or (HBr) Z 38 EFLIE
loss during the year 11 (472) (249) (721)
Exchange realignment i B, ) (58) (15) (73)
At 31 December 2024 R WNE+_H=+—H (3,353) (1,011) (4,364)
Notes: A
(a) Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% (a) R I A SRR A B o 7 v K B Bl o
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign ZEIBRERESIRBE TG REH
investors from the foreign invested enterprises established WRF > 28 B BE B 10% Z 11 S4B o I 4 SR
in mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 ZERN\E—H—HEREERAR _FF
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December TETZAZT—HZ BRI - AREH
2007. Any dividends distributable by the subsidiaries of b e ol T N 95 VA /A ke 2 Y
the Group established in mainland China in respect of — H — H Z A% 7 AR W R B AH B A AT ] R 4y
earnings generated from 1 January 2008 onwards is subject to IR S ZE 038 S OB
withholding taxes.
(b) At 31 December 2024, temporary differences unrecognised (b) RoZZNEFA=Z+—H > FRKE

for deferred tax liabilities relating to the undistributed
profits of subsidiaries amounted to US$10,126,000 (2023:
US$27,310,000). Deferred tax liabilities of US$1,012,000
(2023: US$2,731,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as it is probable that profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E _F _WFEF+_H=+—HILEJE
29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 BA
2024 2023
- Y 11! 2 =S
US$’000 US$’000
E /e Enyan
Authorised BiE
Ordinary shares: B
787,389,223 shares 787,389,223 1%
(2023: 787,389,223 shares) of (ZF =41 7817,389,2238%)
US$0.1 each B BT 0. 13878 78,739 78,739
Conwertible preference shares: i #e R GBI -
12,610,777 shares 12,610,777
(2023: 12,610,777 shares) of (=41 12,610,7778%)
US$0.1 each B 0. 15878 1,261 1,261
80,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid ST AR
Ordinary shares: AR
240,718,310 shares 240,718,310
(2023: 240,718,310 shares) of (=40 240,718,3108%)
US$0.1 each B JBe T 0. 15870 24,072 24,072
Convertible preference shares: A e 5 6 IR -
12,610,777 shares 12,610,7778
(2023: 12,610,777 shares) of (ZF =48 012,610,7778)
US$0.1 each B JBEH E0. 13878 1,261 1,261
25,333 25,333
There were no movements in the Company’s issued ordinary RBEEZF_NER X _=Z24+2H
shares and convertible preference shares during the years EF—HILEERN > RAFRCETEEBER R
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. A 46 B 1B Sl I NG S A 1 o
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4
SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

29

Notes:

The convertible preference shares are convertible into ordinary shares

of the Company and are entitled to the same dividends that are

declared for the ordinary shares. Convertible preference shares do not

carry the right to vote in shareholders’ meeting. Upon winding up, the

Company’s residual assets and funds are distributed to the members of

the Company in the following priority:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

in paying to the holders of the convertible preference shares,
pari passu as between themselves by reference to the aggregate
nominal amounts of the convertible preference shares held
by them respectively, an amount equal to the aggregate of
the distribution value (as defined in the bye-laws of the
Company) of all the convertible preference shares held by

them respectively;

the balance of such assets shall be distributed on a pari passu
basis among the holders of any class of shares in the capital
of the Company other than the convertible preference shares
and other than any shares which are not entitled to participate
in such assets, by reference to the aggregate nominal amounts

paid up on the shares held by them respectively; and

the remaining balance of such assets shall belong to and be
distributed on a pari passu basis among the holders of any class
of shares including the convertible preference shares, other
than any shares not entitled to participate in such assets, by
reference to the aggregate nominal amounts of shares held by

them respectively.

The convertible preference shares shall be non-redeemable by the

Company or the holders thereof.

X EBRERA

29
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - F WA+ H=+—H ILF)¥

RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

The capital reserve mainly represents: (i) the
amount of the equity interests acquired pursuant to
a group reorganisation in 2015, and (ii) the deemed
contribution arising from the transfer of equity interests

in prior years.

The PRC reserve funds are reserves set aside in
accordance with PRC Companies Law or the Law of
the PRC on Joint Ventures Using Chinese and Foreign
Investment. None of the Group’s PRC reserve funds as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were distributable in

the form of cash dividends.

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies

set out in note 2.4(0).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

(a)

The Group had the following capital commitments as

at the end of the reporting period:

30

31

i 18

(a)

AEEZMBEREE R NER R
SZEETZAZS IR EZ SRR
IR AR TR N

GG EER : (DR 2B HAEMRBE
[E] A OO AR > B (i) AR VR D
RER BVE T -

e A e i P B o 24 ] 3 % o R o
B 200 i 35 95 1 O o A S R
R WER R EETAEH
2 v 44 R B DA L 2 7 R4
W -

A B 5 B 4 45 B0 A0 S B 2 T
R T A W A B S 2 A o RS T R 4
E2.4 (o) T PR & BRI BT o

BEAREE

(a)

AEMRBEPMRZEARBWT :

2024 2023
TR ZRIES
US$’000 US$’000
#IL T 7T Fw T
Contracted, but not provided for: CEEA o H AR B -
Property, plant and machinery LE B 5,055 6,642
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Year ended 31 December 2024 B E R _W4E+_H =+ —H IL4F )%
31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (continued) 31 EXREE(ER)
(b)  The Group’s share of capital commitments of the (b) AREBEMN T EREZEARRENT :

joint ventures is as follows:

2024 2023
TR UL R TEE
US$’000 US$’000
B n FoL T
Contracted, but not provided for CLEEAY - AH MR A 71 603
32 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 32 BMEATHE
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HEAEALHRS
The Group had the following transactions with related AEERNENHRBAEANLTLTHR
parties during the year: 9 ¢
2024 2023
e Y 11 K S ZRIES
US$’000 US$’000
KL T 7T F T
Sales of goods to: HEEMT
HOEL and its related entities, including ~HOEL & H B # A3 » S5
CPP Group® CPP4 [~ 160,254 54,728
Other related entities with same BCPGH HHF it R =
shareholders as CPG Hfth B LA 2 5,879 1,819
Purchase of goods from: il B E S R E
ITOCHU Corporation and P BT AR S A K
its subsidiaries® B B 2 W 335 823
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - F WA+ H=+—H ILF)¥
BEALTRE

32 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties (continued)

Note:

Prices of goods sold to related parties were determined with
reference to the cost of raw materials, procurement costs,
other value added, reasonable profit margins, market demand
for goods and prices offered by independent third-party
suppliers of similar products. The procedures for determining
the prices of goods sold to related parties are the same as
those used for determining the prices of goods supplied to
independent third party customers. Selling prices to related
parties shall be no more favourable than those made available

to independent third parties customers.

Prices and terms of goods purchased from related parties
were on normal commercial terms and negotiated between
the Group and related parties on an arm’s length basis
similar to those transactions which the Group conducts
with independent third party suppliers and on terms which
are no less favourable to the Group than those offered by

independent third party suppliers.

# These related party transactions also constituted
continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group’s balances with joint venture,
associate and related companies included in trade
and bills receivables, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables are disclosed in notes 21 and 22,

respectively.
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33
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Year ended 31 December 2024 B E R _W4E+_H =+ —H IL4F )%
32 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 32 BEALHE(E)
(continued)
(c) Compensation of key management personnel (c) AEHEXEEBAES(FAEE)ZH
who are also directors of the Group €
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
B/ n By n
Short term employee benefits J 391 0@ B 1 964 1,146
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33 BBEREESHREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group has exposed to the following risks: A 45 [ 1 DL LR
(a) Interest rate risk (a) EXER
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates A 4 i B A B > 2 SRR AR
primarily to the Group’s debt obligations. The Group B 2 & H AT o A< 4R T o i 4 A 2R
does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge Sl T B S P 3L B R R R A o AR
its interest rate risk. The Group’s exposure to market RS R A T 5| BB A K B4
risk arising from changes in interest rates in respect Wy 2 i 5 R\ i A ) A AR A o
of cash and cash equivalents is considered relatively
minimal.
The following table sets out the carrying amounts AR A [ 5 i 16 30 AR S R R LB = 6
of the Group’s bank borrowings as at the end of the A IR R F IR
reporting period that are exposed to interest rate risk:
2024 2023
G g 11 i S ZRIEH
Carrying Effective Carrying Effective
amount interest rate amount interest rate
WAL EREAER MR ECREAIR
US$’000 % US$’000 %
B/ n FIL T T
Fixed rate denominated in: [ & A R 3% LT
5 W Ty LA
RMB N 34,262 3.62 40,960 3.95
Floating rate denominated in: R E)FI RZ LT
15 W Fy AL
RMB AR 34,907 3.82 37,208 4.02
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - F WA+ H=+—H ILF)¥

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, through
the impact on floating rate bank borrowings, of the

Group’s profit after tax and equity (with all other

33 MIBEMEER RBEE (&)

(a) EXEk(H)

T 2 VR 0 R AT B £ B R
ST > A S W 1 B A5 S 2 i
A 5 R 5

variables held constant):

2024 2023

B YE e St o

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease)

in profit in profit

after tax after tax

and equity and equity

BRBif s Ml & BRBLAR A &

HE 72 ¥ m/ HE 21 38 fm/

(&) (W A)

US$’000 US$’000

F L Fi FILF T
Increase by 100 basis points B4 1003 By (241) (247)
Decrease by 100 basis points WA 1005 2 241 247

Credit risk

The Group places its cash deposits with a number
of major banks. This cash management policy limits
the Group’s exposure to concentration of credit risk.
Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been
measured on 12-month ECLs. The Group considers
that its cash and cash equivalents have minimal
credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the
counterparties (i.e. banks and financial institutions

where cash and cash equivalents are placed).

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(b) FERER

AEER YR EERITERLB &
Tk o BUIE B4 PBOR WK T A 4R
P AR R B o Bl S B4 R
Yo W IR AE 2 1248 A W A BB 4R G
B o FEA A OB 4 B B 4 S A A R
A7 0 4 TR A AR PR IR A BERE AR - ACSR
VA 0y LB 4 e B 4 AR £ R
BRI

RN FF R

143



144

CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ H

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% R 3R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers’ financial conditions for its trade and bills
receivables. Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the effective interest rate computed at initial

recognition.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which,
except for amounts due from customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection
that are assessed individually, is calculated using a
provision matrix. Accordingly, the Group recognised
credit loss allowance of US$71,000 for several
customers with significant doubt on collection that is
individually impaired for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: US$54,000). As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases. The Group assessed that there is no
significant loss allowance recognised in accordance
with IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 and no
ECL rate has therefore been disclosed.

The Group considered that the entire trade receivable
balances have the same credit risk exposure. The
expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past five years. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the

receivables.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Foreign currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions are conducted with
reference to the exchange rates quoted by the People’s
Bank of China. Payments for imported materials and
remittance of earnings out of mainland China are

subject to the availability of foreign currencies.

Export sales of the Group are conducted primarily
in US$. For certain subsidiaries, joint venture and
associate, funds denominated in RMB may have to
be, and from time to time are, converted into US$ or
other foreign currencies for the purchase of imported

materials and equipment.

Should RMB appreciate/depreciate against US$, it may
reduce/increase the foreign currency equivalent of such
earnings available for distribution by these subsidiaries,

joint venture and associate of the Company.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at
the end of the reporting period to a possible change
in RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and equity
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries). The
analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statement of foreign

operations into the Group’s presentation currency.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

33

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

B L B B D g R B ()

Foreign currency risk (continued) (c) HSERBK(E)
Increase/
Appreciation/ (decrease) Increase/
(depreciation) in profit (decrease)
in RMB before tax in equity
ANRW¥ BB A HE #2
FHE (B2 ) Bm/A) B/ A
US$’000 US$’000
FILF T FILF T
Year ended 31 December 2024 BEF U
FZA=ZF - HILEE
If US$ weakens against RMB T PN 35 3% (443) 377)
If US$ strengthens against RMB eI A R THE (3%) 443 377
Year ended 31 December 2023 BEZER =4
TZA=Z+—HILEE
If US$ weakens against RMB (LB YN o2 3% (486) (413)
If US$ strengthens against RMB firg & o B N B W THE (3%) 486 413
Liquidity risk (dy RBEELER
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between A 4R [ 1 H Y T 92 A ) A% 2 T Y

funding continuity and flexibility through the use of

various types of bank borrowings.

The Group monitors current and expected liquidity

requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient

reserves of cash and bank facilities to meet its liquidity

requirements.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #&E - F WA+ H=+—H ILF)¥

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33 HERKBEES & RBK (E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(d)  Liquidity risk (continued) (d) RBESEAR (R
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities TRERAREPRZEHH » AL
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the (A AR 8 5 2400 A O B K T v B 7
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:
At 31 December 2024 R_F_WE+_A=1+—H
Within
1 year or
on demand 1 to 5 years Total
R 5k
A — 4 —FEHAE Ham
US$’°000 US$’°000 US$’000
S o E 7 o E e 7
Trade and bills payables HE AT B 5 Wk ik e 5 67,521 - 67,521
Other payables and accruals A A R ik M TH AR 15,601 - 15,601
Bank borrowings SRAT A K 57,292 11,877 69,169
Estimated interest on bank i wHERAT A ORI .
borrowings 2,108 463 2,571
142,522 12,340 154,862
At 31 December 2023 N _FE_=HFH+_H=1+—H
Within
1 year or on
demand 1 to 5 years Total
HE R
A — 4 —FE A ke
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
FIL T FL T FL T
Trade payables FE AT B 5 Bk K 24,952 - 24,952
Other payables and accruals JH A JRE A R R B T AR 2 10,659 - 10,659
Bank borrowings AT 58,118 20,050 78,168
Estimated interest on bank i 5 ERAT A R B
borrowings 2,307 808 3,115
96,036 20,858 116,894
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not

subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE - ZF W4+ - H=+—H IL4)¥
34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34 ZXRQTMEBRRER
THE COMPANY
2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000
<y n i E e n
NON-CURRENT ASSET I i B) B
Interests in subsidiaries T B S 2 R A HE 25 23,654 23,654
CURRENT ASSETS B B A
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — TEATHR K ~ 3% 4 K HAth 8 e i 3¢ 188 116
Cash and cash equivalents Bl& LBl &5 EY 24,594 24,932
Total current assets MR B A E 24,782 25,048
CURRENT LIABILITY it By 1R
Other payables and accruals At M A R R R TR B 3,318 4,821
NET CURRENT ASSETS o U B & 21,464 20,227
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT A8 A Vol B AL A
LIABILITIES 45,118 43,881
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ik Ui By £ 0
Other non-current liabilities Al I B A A 8 2
NET ASSETS g R 45,110 43,879
EQUITY HE 3
[ssued capital BB AT AR 25,333 25,333
Reserves (note) fEHE (M E) 19,777 18,546
TOTAL EQUITY HE 23 23R 45,110 43,879
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E - F _WHE+_H=+—H L4

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34 ZARQRWEBEARRE ()
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: et -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARAF Z R T
Exchange
fluctuation
Retained profits reserve Total
A 43 BE A A BEE Dk ) 5 ek
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
B e n Fx T B
At 1 January 2023 R _=4—H—H 17,124 27 17,151
Profit for the year AAE B 1,395 - 1,395
At 31 December 2023 and AR EHETFHA=ZTE &

1 January 2024 R TE—H—H 18,519 27 18,546
Profit for the year ARAE i A 1,231 - 1,231
At 31 December 2024 BRI MAETFH=Z4—H 19,750 217 19,777

35 COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 35 HLEHF
Comparative amounts of transportation expenses for LB - 88 R4 85 AR P BT A i 43
distributing products included in selling and distribution costs BESAMBE N CER S EENERA > D
have been reclassified to cost of sales to conform to the current HEARENEHRI R -

ear’s presentation.
y

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
—E-mF F R

150



CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B & R

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont

Executive Directors
Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul

(Chief Executive Officer (Biochemical Division))
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi

(Chief Executive Officer (Industrial Division))
Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yoichi lkezoe

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay

Audit Committee
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman)

Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman)

Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay

Nomination Committee
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom (Chairman)

Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay

Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung (Chairman)

Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun

Company Secretary
Mr. Lau Wing Yuen

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

A H

Corporate Information
~NAEEBEH

EERNRFHITES
NSk

HITES

(T (EAEF))
ERPSLA

(FTEHE (T EEH))
WANS A

FHTES
i — ek

BYFHITES
Surasak Rounroengrom?4G4:
TR A e A

o W R e A

- e N

EREBE]
RS 4 ()
Surasak Rounroengrom?s 4
[ELLE

A AES =N
W e ()
2 RIS

G R Sen

REZES
Surasak Rounroengrom4G 4 ()
HEH L,

EXEREEG
GLES-LIE
A N\ S
F 18 7

RNAEAMWE
BRI ek

RN FF R

151



CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B &FR 2 A

Corporate Information
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Registered Office
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Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong
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Public Interest Entity Auditor

registered in accordance with

the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
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Bank of China
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China Construction Bank
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Bermuda Principal Share Registrar

Ocorian Management (Bermuda) Limited
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Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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Shares Listing
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code: 3839

Website
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